



Calhoun: The NPS Institutional Archive

DSpace Repository

Theses and Dissertations

1. Thesis and Dissertation Collection, all items

2008-03

Coercive disarmament demobilization and reintegration (DDR): can it be successful?

Doolan, Shane R.

Monterey, California: Naval Postgraduate School, 2008.

http://hdl.handle.net/10945/10358

Downloaded from NPS Archive: Calhoun



Calhoun is the Naval Postgraduate School's public access digital repository for research materials and institutional publications created by the NPS community. Calhoun is named for Professor of Mathematics Guy K. Calhoun, NPS's first appointed -- and published -- scholarly author.

> Dudley Knox Library / Naval Postgraduate School 411 Dyer Road / 1 University Circle Monterey, California USA 93943

http://www.nps.edu/library



NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL

MONTEREY, CALIFORNIA

THESIS

COERCIVE DISARMAMENT, DEMOBLIZATION AND REINTEGRATION (DDR): CAN IT BE SUCCESSFUL?

by

Shane R. Doolan

March 2008

Thesis Co-Advisors:

Jeanne Giraldo Jessica Piombo

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

REPORT D	Form Approv	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188						
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instruction, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0704-0188) Washington DC 20503.								
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave	e blank)	2. REPORT DATE March 2008	3. RI		ND DATES COVERED r's Thesis			
 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Connection (DDR): Can it be 6. AUTHOR(S) Shane R. Doolar 	5. FUNDING N	NUMBERS						
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZA Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93943-5000	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER							
9. SPONSORING /MONITORI N/A	10. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER							
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE or position of the Department of I			those of th	e author and do no	ot reflect the official policy			
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited				12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE				
13. ABSTRACT (maximum 200 words) In a post-conflict situation, a strategy of Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (DDR) is critical to achieving sustainable peace. There are three main DDR approaches: the cooperative, successful against macro-insecurities; the integrated, emphasizes micro-insecurities; and the coercive, commonly a failure. Today, coercive DDR programs are increasingly common, which creates a need to understand why many think they always fail, and how the programs can be improved. This thesis conducts a comparative study of three coercive DDR programs, comparing within and across the programs to ascertain conditions that lead to both success and failure. Haiti 1994–2004 is an example of coercive DDR with short-term success but long-term failure. Haiti 2004–2007 is an example of the unique challenges implementers confront when targeting criminal gangs. Albania 1997–1999 is an example of how coercive DDR achieves long-term success by using a community-based approach. The study finds that short-term success is sustainable when the terms of DDR are acceptable to the target group. Security, economic guarantees, and community involvement are critical to the success of coercive DDR. Contrary to expectations, coercive DDR programs can succeed, but require careful integration of local actors and local situations, a condition that is often absent.								
14. SUBJECT TERMS Haiti, Albania, Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration (DDR), Coercive Approach, Cooperative Approach, Integrated Approach, Community based Approach, Macro-insecurities, Micro-insecurities					PAGES 97			
	-				16. PRICE CODE			
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT Unclassified	PAGE	TION OF THIS	ABSTRA	ICATION OF CT classified	20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT UU			
NSN 7540-01-280-5500				Stand	dard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89)			

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18 THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited

COERCIVE DISARMAMENT DEMOBILIZATION AND REINTEGRATION (DDR): CAN IT BE SUCCESSFUL?

Shane R. Doolan Captain, United States Army B.S., Police Studies, John Jay College, 1999

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS IN SECURITY STUDIES (STABILIZATION AND RECONSTRUCTION)

from the

NAVAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL March 2008

Author: Shane R. Doolan

Approved by:

Jeanne Giraldo Thesis Advisor

Jessica Piombo Co-Advisor

Harold A. Trinkunas Chairman, Department of National Security Affairs THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

ABSTRACT

In a post-conflict situation, a strategy of Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (DDR) is critical to achieving sustainable peace. There are three main DDR approaches: the cooperative, successful against macro-insecurities; the integrated, emphasizes micro-insecurities; and the coercive, commonly a failure. Today, coercive DDR programs are increasingly common, which creates a need to understand why many think they always fail, and how the programs can be improved. This thesis conducts a comparative study of three coercive DDR programs, comparing within and across the programs to ascertain conditions that lead to both success and failure. Haiti 1994–2004 is an example of coercive DDR with short-term success but long-term failure. Haiti 2004-2007 is an example of the unique challenges implementers confront when targeting criminal gangs. Albania 1997-1999 is an example of how coercive DDR achieves longterm success by using a community-based approach. The study finds that short-term success is sustainable when the terms of DDR are acceptable to the target group. Security, economic guarantees, and community involvement are critical to the success of coercive DDR. Contrary to expectations, coercive DDR programs can succeed, but require careful integration of local actors and local situations, a condition that is often absent.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INT	RODUCTION	1
	А.	PURPOSE	1
	В.	IMPORTANCE	3
	C.	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
		1. Preventive and Preemptive Measures	6
		2. Dealing with Former Combatants	
		a. Coercive DDR	7
		b. Cooperative DDR	8
		c. Integrative DDR	9
		3. Five Factors for Success	11
		a. The Five Factors and Coercive DDR	12
	D.	PROBLEMS AND HYPOTHESES	13
	Е.	METHODOLOGY	17
	F.	THESIS OVERVIEW	
II.	DDF	R IN HAITI: 1994–2004	19
	A.	INTRODUCTION	
	B.	THE ORIGINS OF THE DDR PROGRAM	
	C.	THE DDR PROGRAM'S SHORT-TERM SUCCESS	
		1. U.S. Disarmament Measures	
		2. U.S. Demobilization and Reintegration Measures	
		a. Explaining the Apparent Success	
	D.	THE DDR PROGRAM'S LONG-TERM FAILURE	
		1. Reasons for the Eventual Failure of DDR	
	E.	CONCLUSION	
III.	DDF	R IN HAITI: 2004–2007	35
111,	A.	INTRODUCTION	
	B .	FORMER SOLDIERS AND COOPERATIVE DDR	
	Б.	1. Former Soldiers Disarmed	
	C.	FAILURE OF THE LAW ENFORCEMENT APPROACH	
	0.	CONTROL ARMED GANGS	
	D.	THE FAILURE OF COERCIVE DDR TARGETING OF GANGS	
	E.	EXPLAINING THE FAILURE	
	F.	CONCLUSION	
IV.	DIS	ARMAMENT IN ALBANIA: 1997–1999	49
1 / •	A .	INTRODUCTION	
	B.	HISTORICAL BACKGROUND	
	C.	DISARMAMENT IMPLEMENTED	
	2.	1. Gramsh Pilot Program (GPP)	
	D.	EXPLAINING THE SUCCESS	
	E.	CONCLUSION	

V.	CON	ICLUS	SION	61
	А.	SIX	LESSONS-LEARNED AND RECOMMENDATIONS	61
		1.	Lesson # 1	
		2.	Lesson # 2	63
		3.	Lesson # 3	66
		4.	Lesson # 4	68
		5.	Lesson # 5	69
		6.	Lesson # 6	69
LIST	OF R	EFERI	ENCES	73
INIT	IAL D	ISTRI	BUTION LIST	85

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This thesis would not have been possible without the attention, guidance and dedication made by Professor Jeanne Giraldo and Professor Jessica Piombo. I sincerely wish to express my deepest gratitude to them for their fervor in assisting me on this project.

I would also like to thank my wife, Michelle and daughter, Cameron. I appreciate their patience, understanding and most of all the encouragement they both gave me to complete this thesis and degree at NPS.

Finally, I would like to thank the Haitian people for their contributions to freedom. Their courage and accomplishments have inspired the Africans and their descendants in the New World to challenge and demand freedom from their colonial masters. Their contributions to freedom will not and should not be forgotten.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

I. INTRODUCTION

A. PURPOSE

The purpose of this thesis is to discuss the strategy known as Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (DDR), an applied strategy that is used for executing successful peacekeeping operations, especially by the United Nations. Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration is critical to the post-conflict reconstruction environment: it "aims to remove the means of violence, such as small arms, from a society and aims to reintegrate ex-combatants into functioning communities."¹ After success in El Salvador, Mozambique, and Namibia and failures in Angola, Cambodia, and Nicaragua, the United Nations concluded that "without the implementation of the concept of DDR armed conflict is likely to again break out."² "No peace process can be successful when armed groups exist that pose a threat to fragile peace efforts."³

One of the first and most important steps in achieving the goals of sustainable peace and stability in a post-conflict environment is an effective disarmament, demobilization and reintegration program. DDR is not a program that should only be implemented in the first or second phase of reconstruction, but rather is part of the entire process.⁴ The programs are difficult to execute. In Haiti between 1994 and 1997, a US-led DDR program established in the reconstruction process failed, and the current

¹ Nicky Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration: The Case of Angola," Peacewomen.org: 36, <u>http://www.peacewomen.org/resources/Angola/ACCORDDDRAngola.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

² Chester A. Crocker and Fen Olser Hampson, "Making Peace Settlement Work," *Foreign Policy*, no. 104, (Autumn, 1996): 67; Emanuel Erskine, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration in Post-Conflict Situations," In *The United Nations 1999 Symposium on Disarmament and Development*, eds. Lucy Webster and Kate Cell, (New York, New York: Economists Allied for Arms Reduction, 1999), 15, http://www.epsusa.org/publications/papers/disarm.pdf (accessed October 19, 2007).

³ Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 36.

⁴ United Nations, *Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration of Ex-Combatants in a PeaceKeeping Environment: Principles and Guidelines.* (New York, New York: United Nations 2000), 5.

approach is not experiencing much success.⁵ Unlike most conflicts of the 1990s, Haiti was not an intrastate conflict settled via a peace agreement among warring factions. Instead, the international community imposed peace. Cases like Haiti that are without a peace agreement present special challenges when implementing DDR.

Traditionally, practitioners and scholars have focused overwhelmingly on examples of cooperative DDR, that is, on situations where there is a peace treaty and where combatants, not criminals, are the disarmament target. This leaves out the cases that are likely to become increasingly relevant for the international community: those where no peace treaty exists and where common criminals are the greatest threat to a state. The use of coercive DDR in cases where there was no peace agreement has not been limited to Somalia where it was a disaster. It was used in Haiti between 1995 and 1997 and most recently in Afghanistan and Iraq.⁶ Thus, a coercive approach to DDR is not a thing of the past. As preemptive measures become a more common practice, the successful implementation of coercive DDR will become increasingly important. This thesis will explore the conditions under which coercive DDR can be implemented successfully and how DDR can be effective against armed groups other than combatants in a post-conflict environment.

Given the importance of a disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration program to the reconstruction process, the international community must know how to implement DDR successfully in various post-conflict environments, such as, for example, that of Haiti. Unlike many post-conflict nations, in Haiti, there is no civil war, peace agreement, defeated enemy, damaging stalemate, faction wanting to secede, or

⁵ Robert Muggah and Keith Krause, "A True Measure of Success? The Discourse and Practice of Human Security in Haiti," *The Whitehead Journal of Diplomacy and International Relations,* (Winter/Spring 2006): 136; Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs, "State Fragility: Improving US Capacity to Respond," *Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs,* Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University, January 2005,

http://www.wws.princeton.edu/research/PWReports/F04/wws591d.pdf (accessed October 19, 2007), 44; The Henry L. Stimson Center, "MINUSTAH: Peace Operations Fact Sheet Series," The Henry L. Stimson Center, August 2007, http://www.stimson.org/fopo/pdf/MINUSTAH_Fact_Sheet_July_07.pdf (accessed October 19, 2007), 3.

⁶ George Packer, *The Assassin's Gate: America in Iraq*, (The United States of America: New York, 2005), 193; Alpaslan Ozerdem, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration of Former Combatants in Afghanistan: Lessons Learned from a Cross-Cultural Perspective," *Third World Quarterly*, 23, no. 5, (October 1, 2002): 972.

insurgency.⁷ Haiti is a weak state with rampant gang violence.⁸ And as intra-state conflicts decline, situations like Haiti may emerge as the new trend and challenge for the international community.⁹

B. IMPORTANCE

Many writers, including Krasner and others, argue that in today's world, weak and failed states pose a tremendous risk to both the United States and global security.¹⁰ States are most vulnerable to failure after a conflict, and states that are at a high risk of failure cannot be ignored. And, as the events of 9/11 demonstrated, the problems created by failed state are not confined within their borders. A failed state like Afghanistan, if ignored, can be used by nonstate actors to launch an attack against a nation thousands of miles away. The international community must therefore be actively involved in restoring stability and preventing state failure. And because state failure is most likely after a conflict, post-conflict reconstruction becomes extremely important. Successful rebuilding prevents further suffering; reduces the chaos that permits terrorists, drug trafficking, and organized crime to flourish; and significantly contributes to global security and stability.

But for post-conflict reconstruction to be successful, it is absolutely necessary that there be an effective DDR program. In 2000, the UN secretary general concluded that "a

⁷ Robert Muggah, "Great Expectations: (dis)integrated DDR in Sudan and Haiti," *Relief Web*, March 31 2007. <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/RWB.NSF/db900SID/SB0I-745PQQ?OpenDocument</u> (accessed October 19, 2007); Actionaid International, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration: What Role Should the EU Play in Haiti? Recommendation?" Actionaid International, October 2006, 12, <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/library/documents/2006/actionaid-hti-03oct.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

⁸ International Crisis Group, "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," *International Crisis Group*, no 21, (July 18, 2007): 1, <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?id=4944&l=1</u> (accessed September 19, 2007).

⁹ Neil Englehart, "Welcome to World Peace," *Social Forces* 84, no. 4, (June 2006) muse.jhu.edu/journals/social_forces/v084/84.4englehart.html (accessed October 17, 2007); Lotta Harbom, Stina Hogbladh and Peter Wallensteen, "Armed Conflict and Peace Agreements," *Journal of Peace Research*, 43, no. 5 (2006): 618-619.

¹⁰ Christopher J Coyne, "Reconstruction Weak and Failed States: Foreign Intervention and the Nirvana Fallacy," *Foreign Policy Analysis*, 2, (2006): 343-45; Robert H Dorff, "Failed States After 9/11: What did we Know and What we Learned?" *International Studies Perspectives*, 6 (2005): 20-34; Jos Van Gennip, "Post-conflict Reconstruction and Development," *Development*, 48, no. 3, (2005): 57; John J. Hamre, and Gordon R Sullivan, "Toward Postconflict Reconstruction," *The Washington Quarterly*, 24, no. 4 (Autumn 2002): 85-96; Krasner, Stephen D. and Pascual, Carlos, "Addressing Sate Failure," *Foreign Affairs*, 84, no. 4, (July/August 2005): 153.

process of disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration has repeatedly proved to be vital to stability in a post-conflict situation."¹¹ Scholars also agree that an effective DDR process contributes significantly to a fragile peace and reconstruction by facilitating reconciliation and trust building between former combatants and noncombatants; and by laying the foundation for elections, security sector reform, and economic development for the state to move forward.¹² A strategy of disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration is therefore critical to the reconstruction process, stability, and security.

Concerning Haiti, there is an additional factor to consider: its status as a weak state and its location pose a potential threat to the United States. The post-conflict reconstruction effort that began there in September 1994 is still ongoing today. According to the latest report by the International Crisis Group in July 2007, the Haitian state was assessed as "very weak, in need of continued military, police, political, financial, and technical support."¹³ Haiti currently ranks as the eleventh out of 177 states on the Failed State Index as the most likely state to fail.¹⁴ Given this estimation, how can the United Nations, which has led the reconstruction effort in Haiti since 2004, and the United States, Haiti's largest bilateral donor, significantly contribute to Haiti's becoming a stronger state with sustainable peace and stability?¹⁵ The goal there is to create a viable and stable state that does not require direct assistance from the international community. In 2004, the Bush administration designated the Caribbean as the United States' third

¹¹ United Nations, "The Role of the United Nations Peacekeeping in Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," *United Nations* S/2000/101: 1.

¹² Nicole Ball and Dylan Hendrickson, "Review of International Financing Arrangements for Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," SIDDR, September 26, 2005: 3, <u>http://www.sweden.gov.se/content/1/c6/06/54/02/ee028ddc.pdf</u> (accessed October, 19 2007); Nat J.Colletta, "Demilitarization, Demobilization, and the Social and Economic Integration of Ex-combatants: Lessons From the World Bank Africa Experience," USAID Conference October 30-31, 1997: 2; Gwinyayi, A. Dzinesa "Postconflict Disarmament, Demobilization, Reintegration of Former Combatants in Southern Africa" *International Studies Perspectives* 8 (2007): 74; Erskine, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration" 16; Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 36.

¹³ International Crisis Group, "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," 1.

¹⁴ Fund for Peace, *The Failed State Index* 2007.

http://www.fundforpeace.org/web/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=229&Itemid=366 (accessed October 19, 2007).

¹⁵ United Nations, "Report of the Secretary-General on the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti." *United Nations* S/2007/503, (August 22, 2007): 1; The Henry L. Stimson Center, "MINUSTAH: Peace Operations Fact Sheet Series," 5.

border and stressed that "events in the region have a direct impact on homeland security."¹⁶ It is therefore imperative that the international community understand how to implement an effective DDR program in Haiti.

C. LITERATURE REVIEW

Scholars and practitioners have devoted a significant amount of attention to improving an applied strategy of cooperative DDR. Over the years scholars and practitioners recognized that a failed reintegration program could undermine the entire DDR process. As a result, an integrated approach was developed to address the failures of the cooperative approach to adequately address micro-insecurities by failing to reintegrate former combatants back into their communities. In the process, however, they have generally assumed that DDR would always be conducted in a cooperative environment and that the targets would always be former combatants. But this is not always the case. DDR programs are being conducted also in hostile environments where there is no peace treaty and the targets are sometimes common criminals: environments that require coercive DDR.

The following literature review will begin with a discussion of the three main approaches to an applied strategy of Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration – coercive, cooperative, and integrated – and identify their short comings. This will be followed by an examination of the five factors identified by Joanna Spear (in the chapter Disarmament and Demobilization in *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*, edited by Stedman, Rothchild, and Cousens¹⁷) as necessary to improve the chances of success when implementing DDR. The literature review will also show that there needs to be more focus on identifying ways to make coercive DDR a success and to reintegrate groups other than former combatants.

¹⁶ Mark Sullivan, "Caribbean Region: Issues in U.S. Relations," *CRS Report for Congress*, April 26, 2006 (updated), RL32160: 4.

¹⁷ Joanna Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," In *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*, eds. Stephen John Stedman, Donald Rothchild and Elizabeth M. Cousens, 141-181 (Boulder and London: Lynnne Rienner Publishers, 2002).

In a prototypical scenario of an internal state conflict, the post-conflict status is initiated by a peace treaty signed by the warring parties. From reconstruction programs conducted in that kind of environment during the 1990s, the international community accumulated a wealth of knowledge and lessons-learned. According to the International Peace Research Institute, however, such intrastate conflicts are on the decline.¹⁸ Instead of a post-conflict intervention to broker and enforce a peace treaty, it is more likely now that the United States (and perhaps the international community) will have to intervene in either a preventive or a preemptive fashion.

1. Preventive and Preemptive Measures

After the attacks of 9/11, the Bush administration identified failed states as a threat to U.S. national security and endorsed preemptive action as a viable means to counter threats: thus, the intervention in both Afghanistan and Iraq.¹⁹ Afghanistan was a weak state accused of supporting terrorists; Iraq was a strong state accused of possessing weapons of mass destruction.²⁰ In both cases, after a military invasion, reconstruction began not as the result of a peace accord but as a project initiated by the victors in the ensuing conflict.

Some members of the international community now also recognize the importance of intervening early in conflicts and thus may become increasingly involved in preventive disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration measures.²¹ To prepare for similar instances in the future, reconstruction experts need to look at the cases that do not

¹⁸ International Peace Research Institute, "Towards a More Peaceful World." International Peace Research Institute, (September 2006).

http://www.prio.no/files/file48260_prio_uppsala_eng_press_release_020906.pdf (accessed November 1, 2007).

¹⁹ The White House, "The National Security Strategy of the United States of America," The White House, (September 2002): 15, <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/nsc/nss/2002/nss.pdf NSP 2002</u> (accessed October 31, 2007).

²⁰ Saibal Mitra, "Winning the Real war on Terrorism," *The Humanist*, 62, no. 1, (January/February 2002): 6; Arms Control Today, "Political Fracas Stalls Senate's Iraq Investigation," *Arms Control Today*, 33, no. 10, (December 2003): 44.

²¹ Stephen Baryani, "What Kind of Peace is Possible in the Post 9/11 Era? National Agencies, Transnational Coalitions and the Challenges of Sustainable Peace," Working Paper, (October 2005): 12. <u>http://www.nsi-ins.ca/english/pdf/wkop_lead_paper.pdf</u> (accessed November 13, 2007).

necessarily fit the existing categories of post-conflict reconstruction. Haiti, for reasons mentioned earlier, is a good example, and unlike with Afghanistan and Iraq, enough time has passed to allow an assessment of the Haitian policies implemented and to learn from those reconstruction endeavors.

2. Dealing with Former Combatants

Disarming, demobilizing, and reintegrating former combatants into society is one of the main components of post-conflict reconstruction. The goal is that they become productive and stabilizing forces, not spoilers of the peace. In approaching this task, reconstruction teams have generally used one of three main approaches: coercive, cooperative, and integrative.

a. Coercive DDR

A coercive approach is one in which the warring factions are forced to disarm by either a local or an intervening armed force. Coercive measures are necessary because, in the absence of a mutual agreement to stop hostilities and disarm, the environment is usually hostile. Military force is required to either capture combatants or get them to turn over their weapons. The coercive approach, which is only practical when there is a clear victor or intervention by a superior force, is the least used of the three approaches because historically it has often failed. ²² The United States, for example, used coercive DDR in Somalia in 1993 and in Iraq in 2003. In Somalia, though the U.S. forces captured many weapons, the overall mission was a failure because the United States proved unable to establish a secure environment for humanitarian operations.²³ In Iraq, according to most military experts, the early demobilization of the Iraqi Army led to the current violent insurgency.²⁴

²² Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 142.

²³ Mats Berdal, "Disarmament and Demobilization After Civil Wars: Soldiers and the Termination of Armed Conflict," *The International Institute for Strategic Studies, Adelphi Paper*, 303, (Oxford University Press: August 1996): 1

²⁴ Packer, The Assassin's Gate: America in Iraq, 193.

b. Cooperative DDR

Of the three approaches to disarming, demobilizing, and reintegrating former combatants, cooperative DDR is the one most often used. In the cooperative approach, the warring parties voluntarily end the hostilities and lay down their arms. This approach is most successful in situations where there is no clear victor and where the details of DDR are outlined and agreed upon in a mutual peace agreement. Usually, the international community is then called upon to act as a neutral party to ensure equal compliance and to provide necessary resources. At the macro-level, use of a cooperative approach was considered a success in Mozambique, South Africa, Angola, Namibia, Guatemala, and El Salvador. In each of these cases the use of a cooperative approach to disarm, demobilize, and reintegrate former combatants helped end an armed challenge to the state, At the micro-level, however, the DDR programs failed because of the high level of crime and violence committed by ex-combatants.²⁵

In their responses to those micro-level failures, practitioners and scholars then began to point out how important it is to recognize that disarming, demobilizing, and reintegrating former combatants into society is a long process with a combination of short-, medium-, and long-term effects. And long-term reintegration must be given as much attention as the short-term goals of disarmament and demobilization. For DDR to be successful, all three phases require an enormous amount of resources which must be available at the appropriate times. Each phase requires various agencies to work together to accomplish the overall goals of DDR.²⁶ As Kazuhide Kurado of the World Bank

²⁵ Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 142; Dzinesa, "Postconflict Disarmament and Demobilization," 74; *Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration of Ex-Combatants in a PeaceKeeping Environment: Principles and Guidelines.* New York, New York: United Nations 2000 <u>http://www.un.org/Depts/dpko/lessons/DD&R.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007), 5; Berdal, "Disarmament and Demobilization After Civil Wars," 11.

²⁶ Beatrice Pouligny, "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary 'Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration' Programs," Center for International Studies and Research, September 2004, 5-7, <u>http://www.demokratitorget.gov.se/content/1/c6/06/53/96/8ca52a50.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007); Ball and Hendrickson, "Review of International Financing," vii-viii.

accurately pointed out in 2005, every implementation of "DDR has political, security, and economic dimensions and no single entity has capacities to handle all."²⁷

c. Integrative DDR

To address those DDR inefficiencies, in 2000 the UN introduced a new form of DDR, called the "integrated approach," and in August 2006 published complete standards for its implementation.²⁸ The integrated approach was designed to synchronize the efforts of various agencies both international and local and to ensure that the short-, medium-, and long-term goals are adequately addressed. In this way, it sought to remedy a major flaw of the cooperative approach: the failure of reintegration programs to prevent ex-combatants from turning to destabilizing crime and violence.²⁹

The integrated approach, however, does not address the shortcomings of the coercive approaches. How can DDR be successful in situations where peace is imposed by a superior external force, where there is no peace agreement, and/or where armed gang members who are not ex-combatants create insecurity at the micro-level?³⁰ The integrated approach assumes that any micro-level insecurity will come from former combatants who are not successfully reintegrated back into society. But this is not the case in an increasing number of countries, including Haiti, where it is criminals that pose the greatest threat to society. A survey of murders committed in Port-au-Prince in 2004 revealed that former combatants were responsible for only 13 percent, while armed gangs

http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N00/291/43/PDF/N0029143.pdf?OpenElement (accessed October 19, 2007); The United Nations, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," *United Nations* A/60/705, (March 2, 2006): 6-11, http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N06/259/21/PDF/N0625921.pdf?OpenElement (accessed

²⁷ Kazuhide Kuroda, "Conflict and Development," *The World Bank*, May 26, 2005: 6, http://sites.jointokyo.org/challenges/arc<u>hives/files/08_Conflict_handout.pdf</u> (accessed October, 19 2007).

²⁸ The United Nations, "The Role of the United Nations Peacekeeping in Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 1-23,

October 19, 2007); United Nations, "The UN Approach to DDR," United Nations, (August 1, 2006), http://www.unddr.org/iddrs/02/download/IDDRS_210.pdf (accessed October 19 2007).

²⁹ Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 38; United Nations, "Social and Economic Reintegration," *United Nations* 4.30 (August 1, 2006): 1-43, http://www.unddr.org/iddrs/04/download/IDDRS 430.pdf (accessed January 20, 2008).

³⁰ Muggah, "Great Expectations: (dis)integrated DDR in Sudan and Haiti," 2-4. Muggah points out that Haiti is not the typical DDR case. It has no peace agreement and the state is threatened by common criminals and not former combatants.

and criminals were responsible for over 80 percent.³¹ No wonder both the Haitian government and the United Nations Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) consider gangs and criminals as the greatest threat to Haiti's peace and security.³²

The main problem is that an approach designed to disarm former combatants is unlikely to work against gang members. Socially and economically motivated armed groups usually do not have either a strict command structure or grievances that are subject to negotiation. Thus armed gangs present a different kind of challenge. They have no grievances that they want settled and no ideology to combat. Instead, gangs generally form as a means to provide security and a source of income when the state is unable to provide either order or jobs.³³ The bargaining space is extremely small because there are no quick fixes for the root causes of people joining gangs. The situation in Haiti, for example, is like most nations in a post-conflict phase of development. While the various arms of the government are being developed, the police will continue to be unable to provide adequate security and the economic conditions are not likely to improve any time soon. Even if a gang leader agreed to end the violence, there is no guaranty that gang members would comply. It is essential therefore that whatever program is implemented to get gangs to disarm appeal to individual members.³⁴ Each member must be convinced that he or she will be safe and that there will be legitimate economic opportunities to make a decent living.

The UN shift in its DDR approach reflects a consensus in the related literature. Writers have long stressed the need to redesign DDR programs so that reintegration is given as much attention as disarmament and demobilization and is undertaken in concert

³¹ Athena R Kolbe and Royce A. Hutson, "Human Rights Abuse and Other Criminal Violations in Port-au-Prince, Haiti: A Random Survey of Households," *Lancelot*, 368, (September 8, 2006): 869.

³² International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration of the State," *International Crisis Group*, no. 12, (October 30, 2006): 5, <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?l=1&id=4475</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

³³ Justin Podur, "Two Faced in Haiti," *Znet*, (October 1, 2005). http://www.zmag.org/content/showarticle.cfm?ItemID=8850

³⁴ Federal News Service, "Roundtable Discussion with Ambassador Edmond Mulet," *Federal News Service*, January 27, 2007: 1-26. <u>http://www.csis.org/media/csis/events/070131_haiti_transcript.pdf</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).

with those efforts rather than as an afterthought.³⁵ In addition, the literature focuses on factors that shape whether or not the *implementation* of disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration strategies will be successful. Joanna Spear, for instance, conducted a study of DDR programs in fifteen countries that identifies the importance of five factors necessary to achieve success: a peace agreement that clearly defines the terms of DDR, support from the national government, the cooperation of a wide range of agencies, the satisfaction of the warring parties with the terms of DDR, and a verification process that ensures the program is achieving its goals and discouraging cheating.³⁶

3. Five Factors for Success

First, Spear emphasizes that a peace agreement is the most important factor of the five. Spear argues that the peace agreement should clearly define the DDR process, and the terms of the disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration must be worked out and clearly understood by all parties. Doing these things will give the process legitimacy and avoid confusion during its implementation.³⁷ Other post-conflict scholars agree that a peace agreement that includes DDR increases its likelihood for success.³⁸

Second, the implementation environment must have the support of both local governments and international agencies. Without the support of the indigenous governments DDR is likely to fail.

Third, the implementers which consist of numerous agencies and organizations, must all work together for DDR to succeed. No one person or group can accomplish DDR.

³⁵ Dzinesa, "Postconflict Disarmament, Demobilization, Reintegration," 79-80; Ozerdem, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration of Former Combatants in Afghanistan," 972; Hitchcock, "Disarament, Demobilization and Reintegration" 38.

³⁶ Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 148.

³⁷ Ibid.

³⁸ Pouligny, "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary," 14; Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 37; Jeremy Weinstein and Macartan Humphreys, "Disentangling the Determinants of Successful Demobilization and Reintegration," *Center for Global Development*," no. 69, (September 2005): 7, <u>http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/4155</u> (accessed November 13, 2007).

Fourth, if the warring parties are satisfied with the political terms and the new balance of military power, DDR is likely to succeed. It is also helpful if the warring parties are able to assist in the DDR process.

Finally, the verification process is critical to success. It is important that all parties involved are reassured that the process is achieving the goals that they agreed on. Verification also builds trust and contributes to the peace process.³⁹

Judging from their research and experience, most scholars and practitioners agree that Spear's five factors are essential for the successful implementation of a DDR strategy. Although there is some disagreement about how to rank the five in terms of importance, most also agree that a peace agreement is crucial and, like Spear, they focus on the demobilization of former combatants.⁴⁰

a. The Five Factors and Coercive DDR

Two of Spear's five factors are not applicable to the coercive approach. First, a peace agreement does not apply because if a peace agreement exists, then by definition the DDR is not coercive: the parties have agreed to demobilize. Second, verification is not applicable because without a peace agreement no goals have been agreed to by the warring parties and the targeted group must be forced to disarm. It is highly unlikely that any uncooperative personnel will verify whether or not they are being effectively disarmed.

Spear's other three factors could be applied, however, to improve the success of coercive DDR. Two of the factors address implementation elements – the

⁴⁰ Crocker and Hampson, "Making Peace Settlement Work," 67-69; Cliff Bernath and Sarah Martin, "Peacekeeping in West Africa: A Regional Report," *Refugees International*, June 2004: 12-14, <u>http://www.refugeesinternational.org/files/2992_file_PK_WestAfrica_Jun04_v2.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008); Stephen John Stedman, "Implementing Peace Agreements in Civil Wars: Lessons and Recommendations for Policymakers," *International Peace Academy*, May 2001: 16-17, <u>http://www.ipacademy.org/pdfs/Pdf_Report_Implementing.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008); Lukhdar Brahimi, "Sate Building in Crisis and Post-Conflict Countries," *United Nations*, June 2007: 12-14. <u>http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan026305.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008); 43-45; Nelson Alusala, "DRC: On the Road to Disarmament," *Institute of Security Studies*, February 2004: 63-66, http://www.iss.co.za/pubs/Monographs/No98/Chap4.pdf (accessed March 7, 2008).

³⁹ Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 153-156.

effective planning and execution of the program – that are relevant to both cooperative and coercive DDR. The fourth factor – the need for warring factions to agree to the political and military balance of power resulting from the DDR program – implies a level of agreement that is alien to a coercive approach. But as a counterfactual reading of the Haiti case will show, one could imagine the demobilizing parties agreeing to a balance of power without a peace treaty being in place.

In sum, the integrated approach stresses the importance of reintegrating former combatants, and Spear and others stress the importance of a peace agreement during implementation. However, two major questions have yet to be addressed. How can a DDR program be successful without a peace agreement? And can a successful DDR program be designed that targets criminals and gangs motivated by poverty and other social causes in a post-conflict environment? These two questions will be addressed in this thesis by examining three case studies: the two DDR programs conducted in Haiti and one in Albania.

D. PROBLEMS AND HYPOTHESES

In its attempt to conduct a disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration program in Haiti, where no peace agreement had been reached between the warring parties, the international community was forced to take a coercive approach, the least preferred and most likely to fail. Another challenge it faced was implementing a DDR program that was designed for former combatants, not criminal gangs. In this regard, the question this thesis asks is, Are there any conditions under which a coercive approach could be successful? This question can be broken down into two sub-questions: Under what conditions can a coercive approach address macro-insecurities? And, under what conditions can a coercive approach address micro-insecurities, particularly those posed by individuals and groups who were not formerly combatants?⁴¹

⁴¹ Collier, Paul, "Demobilization and Insecurity: A Study in the Economics of the Transition From War to Peace," *Journal of International Development* 6, no. 3 (1994): 343. Collier defined macro-insecurities as "the fear the state will be overthrown by insurrection" and micro-insecurities as "the fear that the individual will be the victim of crime."

We address these questions examining both successful and unsuccessful cases of coercive DDR. We studied Haiti as a (mostly) unsuccessful case of DDR, divided into two case studies. The case study that will be discussed first is Aristide's Haiti (1994–2004), followed by a case study of DDR in post-Aristide Haiti, 2004 to 2007.

President Aristide was removed from the presidency in 1991 by the military led by General Raoul Cedras. In 1994 he was reinstated as President by the international community led by the United States. Following President Aristide's unilateral decision to disband the Haitian military, the United States scrambled to implement a coercive DDR program to ensure that former military members would not pose a threat to international forces and the Haitian state. The program achieved short-term success but failed in 2004 as armed former military members forced Aristide out of office.

In this case, how did the coercive approach achieve short-term success? Why did the military, given its structured chain of command, not engage in a coordinated resistance? Did the United States fail to do something that then caused the DDR program to have only short-term success? Our tentative answers to these questions are as follows: the presence of a superior force that prevented any resistance resulted in the DDR's shortterm success. More long-term success could not be achieved, however, because the reintegration phase of the program was a failure.

In the second case study, post-Aristide Haiti, the U.S. Marines deployed to Haiti after President Aristide was forced to leave the country in 2004 were later replaced by a UN peacekeeping force that continues to this day. During this time, the Haitian government carried out a cooperative DDR program that successfully reduced the threat posed by ex-military members. And the international community launched an integrated DDR program to combat the micro-insecurities posed by armed gangs. The program coordinated and synchronize the efforts of numerous agencies to deliver economic and developmental projects to communities in the form of job creation and infrastructure improvements. It also required the United Nations Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) and the Haitian National Police (HNP) forces to conduct raids and set up checkpoints to disarm gangs by force.

Both planks of the program have been a failure, a situation that leaves many questions unanswered. Why have the raids not resulted in the disarming of gangs? Why did the integrated approach fail to reintegrate gang members and reduce the threat they posed to society? The tentative answers to these questions are that poor security and economic conditions in Haiti made gang members unwilling to give up their weapons: both their security blanket and their bread winner. There is also the problem that the integrated approach was designed to conduct DDR on combatants as a group, and Haiti's challenge is how to force individuals to disarm. The integrated approach in Haiti is also failing because the efforts of the various agencies involved were neither coordinated nor synchronized.

To better illustrate why and how Haiti's DDR process failed, the thesis will compare it to Albania's more successful program. The Albanian case is widely accepted as an example of a successful implementation of coercive disarmament only, not of a full-fledged DDR program. Those disarmed were ordinary citizens with no affiliation with an organized group; thus no demobilization or reintegration program was required. What the Albanian case study provides is invaluable insights on how to successfully get individuals to disarm in the absence of a peace agreement, a challenge that Haiti also faces.

In February 1998, the Albanian government invited the international community to help it implement the coercive disarmament of civilians who had armed themselves a year earlier by looting 1,300 armories and weapons factories. By January 1999 the disarmament program was fully operational; it was completed in August 1999.

As noted above, unlike in most post-conflict situations, the Albanian program was not aimed at combatants. The international community designed an unconventional disarmament program that was successful in disarming the citizens of Albania and thereby eliminated the micro-insecurity they posed.⁴² But what lessons can the international community learn from the Albanian experience that could be applied to cases like Haiti? How did those involved in the program convince Albanian citizens to

⁴² Paul Holtom, Henry Smith, Bernardo Mariani, Simon Rynn, Larry Attree and Juliana Sokolova, "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," *ISN Publishing House*, (December 2005): 110. <u>http://www.isn.ethz.ch/pubs/ph/details.cfm?lng=en&id=15132</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

disarm? A preliminary examination of the case suggests that the local community's support and a disarmament program tied to community development programs were the main factors in the program's success.

In respect to the major question driving this thesis – Under what conditions can a coercive DDR approach be successful – it is widely argued that a coercive approach always leads to failure. But the Albanian case demonstrates that this is not necessarily true. Nonetheless, the mischaracterization of coercive DDR has led both scholars and practitioners to virtually ignore it and to concentrate instead on finding ways to improve the cooperative approach. While this effort led to the development of an integrated approach, a decided improvement, it failed to address the problem of how to successfully implement DDR in the absence of a peace agreement. We examine both why coercive DDR worked in Albania but not in Aristide's Haiti and why it worked in post-Aristide Haiti but not over the longer term. This examination proves useful because it illuminates critical aspects of coercive DDR that suggest that it may prove more widely implementable in certain types of post-conflict environment that are common today.

The thesis will also draw on one of the Haitian case studies to address a shortcoming of an integrated approach, which ignores the fact that a coercive DDR program implemented in 1994 was considered a success for nearly a decade.⁴³ Over 16,000 weapons were recovered and no armed faction actively resisted the process.⁴⁴ Nevertheless, by 2004 Haiti's DDR program was an apparent failure, as armed former combatants forced President Aristide from office. These circumstances make the Haitian case relevant to practitioners who question whether Haiti's short-term success with coercive DDR could be replicated and, if so, how its long-term failure might be avoided.

What is clear is that even absent a peace agreement, Haiti experienced short-term success with coercive DDR: Aristide disbanded the army with little short-term resistance.

⁴³ Michael Bailey, Robert Maguire and O'Neil J.G. Pouliot. "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership for Public Security," In *Policing the World Order: Peace Operations and Public Security*, eds. by Robert Oakley and Dziedzic M. Goldberg, Washington D.C.: (*National Defense University Press*, 1998): 9. http://www.ndu.edu/inss/books/Books%20%201998/Policing%20the%20New%20World%20Disorder%20 -%20May%2098/chapter7.html (accessed September 19, 2007).

⁴⁴ Ibid., 9.

What the thesis asks is why this happened, contrary to similar cases of coercive DDR such as Somalia where the process was actively resisted. Perhaps more important, the thesis will examine the failure of the coercive approach in the long run, when in 2004 exmilitary members cooperated with armed groups to force Aristide from office. Could the international community have forged a workable agreement about the implementation of disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration in a situation without a peace treaty and conditions that were not ripe for a coordinated approach?

To supplement these discussions, the thesis explores ways in which DDR could be used to address widespread crime and violence, major sources of micro-insecurity, as in Haiti post-2004. We question both the source of crime as well as possible solutions. For example, Is the crime in Haiti caused by a failed DDR program or are most criminals noncombatants who are forced into a life of crime by the poor economic conditions and the availability of weapons? If the majority of criminals are disgruntled civilians, do they pose a different set of challenges than if the criminals were ex-combatants? Should DDR programs be part of the solution to the violence carried out by criminal gangs in Haiti? If so, is a cooperative approach based on negotiations with the "warring parties" feasible or would a coercive approach be necessary? If so, how could the coercive approach be modified to avoid failure as in the past?

E. METHODOLOGY

This thesis is based on a comparative study of three cases: Haiti 1994–2004, Haiti 2004–present, and Albania 1997–1999. Our analysis of each case study will use the five factors identified by Spear offered to demonstrate the likelihood of success or failure of implementing DDR. Although two of the factors are not applicable to coercive DDR, all five offer great assistance, to varying degrees depending on the circumstances, in identifying elements that contribute to DDR programs' success or failure. But since all five factors are not applicable to the case studies, additional elements will be introduced to assist our determination of what contributes to success or failure. The Haiti 1994–2004 case demonstrates how short-term success can be achieved using coercive DDR, showing that a coercive approach does not have to be a complete failure. There are important

lessons to be learned here that could be applied to improve the chances of coercive approach being successful. However, in 2004 an armed rebellion led by former combatants showed that coercive DDR in Haiti failed to have long-term effects. Lessons could be learned here also that might show in turn how to ensure that in the future such DDR programs would have longer-term success.

In the case study of Haiti 2004–present the local government and the international community confronted the micro-insecurity posed by criminal gangs. So far, an integrated DDR program launched in August 2006 has failed to disarm the gangs of Haiti. An examination of this case should reveal the faults involved in implementing a DDR program designed for former combatants to target criminal groups in the hope that individual members will disarm.

The third and final case is Albania 1997–1999. This case, a success story, will offer significant insights on how to effectively force individuals to disarm.

F. THESIS OVERVIEW

Chapter II will explore the failed DDR program in Aristide's Haiti (1994–2004), its consequences, and the challenges that were encountered. Chapter III will explore Haiti's current DDR program and identify obstacles to its success. Since the two Haitian cases have largely failed and offer primarily negative lessons for policy makers, the thesis will examine a case of successful disarmament in a country in which where conflict did not end with a peace treaty. In 1998, Albania asked for international help to combat armed civilians and violence and implemented a successful disarmament program. Chapter IV examines that successful disarmament of individuals and identifies elements that contributed to the Albanian success. Chapter V concludes the thesis with lessons learned and recommendations for the international community to use when conducting reconstruction in post-conflict scenarios that are not settled via a peace treaty. The overall aim of this thesis is to add to the literature the special challenges that these largely ignored post-conflict scenarios present and how to resolve them.

II. DDR IN HAITI: 1994–2004

A. INTRODUCTION

In 1994, three years after the military ousted President Jean-Bertrand Aristide from power, the United States reinstated him as the rightful leader of Haiti. President Aristide, without reaching an agreement with the military and without consulting the United States, decided to disband the Haitian armed forces. Most military members opposed demobilization. Consequently, the United States was forced into implementing coercive disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration, the approach that is considered to have the highest probability of failure. Unlike its previous use of coercive DDR programs, however, in this case, the United States was able to achieve short-term success with very little resistance. Nevertheless, over the longer term, it was an obvious failure, as in 2,004 former soldiers led armed rebels in an attempt to overthrow the government. That ultimate failure raises two main questions: Why was the short-term success unsustainable? What went wrong?

This chapter will address those questions. It examines the coercive DDR program carried out by the United States between 1995 and 1997 and explains why it was successful in the short run but a failure in the long run, ultimately undermining the entire reconstruction process. The chapter will present evidence that coercive DDR can be successful, at least in the short run. The chapter will also argue that long-term success was also achievable, at least in theory. If Aristide had not been so opposed to the military taking jobs in the public sector, he could have unilaterally crafted a DDR program which terms would have been accepted, if grudgingly, by the target group. Aristide did not do that, however, and once the United States and other international forces departed, midlevel commanders of the disbanded military were able to mobilize disgruntled rank-andfile soldiers against the state.

B. THE ORIGINS OF THE DDR PROGRAM

The Haitian military has long been a key player in the country's politics. Since Haiti's independence in 1804, the military has helped determine who would be the president and for how long.⁴⁵ This arrangement was altered in 1957 when Francois "Papa Doc" Duvalier won Haiti's presidential election. Papa Doc was very aware of the role that the armed forces played in politics, so he decided to neutralize the military by replacing the current officers with officers loyal to him. He then acted to reduce any potential threat the military could pose to his government by establishing a paramilitary as a counterweight, "the notorious Volontaires pour la Securite Nationale, commonly known as the tonton macoutes."⁴⁶ Aided by the military's support and influence, Papa Doc ruled Haiti until his death in 1971.

His son, Jean-Claude "Baby Doc" Duvalier, then took over and ruled until 1986 when street protests and military maneuvering led to his forced exile. After Baby Doc's departure Haiti fell under military rule until 1990 when the United States pressured the military into creating an interim civilian government that would organize an election for a permanent elected government.

In Haiti's first free and fair elections, held in December 1990, Jean-Bertrand Aristide won 67 percent of the vote, but he did not remain long in power. He lacked the support of the military and just eight months after his inauguration was ousted from power by a military coup.⁴⁷ In 1993, an attempt to return Aristide to power under the so-called Governor's Island Accord failed.⁴⁸ The United Nations then passed Security Council Resolution 940 authorizing the use of all necessary means, including force, to replace the military government of Haiti and restore the democratic government to power. A UN mandate authorized the creation of both a Multinational Force (MNF), which was predominantly U.S.-manned, to intervene and a United Nations Mission in Haiti (UNMIH) to replace the MNF once a safe and secured environment was established. However, when the head of the Haitian military government, General Raoul

⁴⁵Mats Lundahl, "History as an Obstacle to Change: The Case of Haiti," *Journal of International Studies and World Affairs* 31, no. 1/2 (Spring – Summer 1989): 11.

⁴⁶ Jean-Germain Gros, "Haiti's Flagging Transition," *Journal of Democracy*, 8, no. 4 (1997): 95.

⁴⁷ Maureen Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and US Policy Since 1991 and Current Congressional Concerns," *CRS Report for Congress*, June 21, 2007 (updated), RL32294: 2-3.

⁴⁸ Ben J. Scott, "Order in the Court: Judicial Stability and Democratic Success in Haiti," *Vanderbilt Journal of Transitional Law*, (March 2004): 3, law.vanderbilt.edu/.../journal-of-transnational-law/archives/volume-37-number-2/download.aspx?id=1920 (accessed December 21, 2007).

Cedras, realized that a forced intervention was pending he signed an agreement to allow Aristide to return to power. The arrangement stipulated that General Cedras and his officials would resign and provided for legislative amnesty for the military.⁴⁹ A planned force entry became a permissive one and on October 15, 1994, Aristide was reinstated as the president of Haiti.⁵⁰

The intervention plan had called for an international force to work with the Haitian Army to provide security while the Haitian National Police (HNP) was being established. It soon became clear that Haitian troops were not able to provide public security in accordance with international norms. For example, it was not uncommon for unarmed citizens to be beaten by members of the Haitian military. One of these incidents, televised in the United States, showed an unarmed man being beaten by uniformed Haitian personnel while U.S. soldiers watched. The resulting outcry led to U.S. forces taking a more active role in patrolling the streets.⁵¹

The Haitian forces continued to disrupt the peace process, exchanging gun fire with U.S. forces in Cap Haitien that left ten people dead, and attacking a peaceful protest in Port-au-Prince that left five dead. These incidents and Aristide's awareness of the threat the military posed to his tenure led to his decision on December 23, 1994, to disband the military. He did not consult with either the United States or Haitian military leaders before making his decision. But a month later, after soldiers were allowed to take their weapons home, he reluctantly gave the United States permission to conduct a DDR program in Haiti.⁵² The UN, which had had prior experience with administering such programs in Latin America and Africa, was unable to assist because the program was not included in their mandate.⁵³

⁴⁹ Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security," 3-4.

⁵⁰ Scott, "Order in the Court: Judicial Stability and Democratic Success in Haiti," 3.

⁵¹ Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security," 6; Jonathan Dworken, Jonathan Moore and Adam Siegel, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," Institute for Public Research, March 1997: 1 – 68, http://www.jha.ac/articles/a070.pdf (accessed October 19, 2007).

⁵² Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security," 7; Johanna Mendelson-Forman, "Security Sector Reform in Haiti," *International Peacekeeping*, 13, no. 1 (March 2006): 18.

⁵³ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 12.

C. THE DDR PROGRAM'S SHORT-TERM SUCCESS

The DDR program in Haiti was divided into two parts which were conducted independently of each other. The U.S. Army was responsible for disarmament. The Office of Transition Initiative (OTI), which fell under the U.S. Agency of International Development (USAID), was responsible for the demobilization and reintegration program. The agency also financed the International Organization of Migration (IOM) to help with implementation of the program, known as the Demobilization and Reintegration Program (DRP). The DRP had three objectives: (1) "short-term neutralization" to decrease the threat ex-military members posed to US forces; (2) the creation of "breathing space" to keep former soldiers engaged and allow post-conflict development and transition to the UN; and (3) long-term reintegration to lay the foundation for former Haitian soldiers to be reintegrated economically, socially, and politically into Haitian society.

The next section will discuss the DDR program's success in the short-term neutralization of the military and the creation of breathing space for UN operations. Programs for long-term reintegration, however, would face more problems. Their ultimate failure is discussed in a subsequent section.

1. U.S. Disarmament Measures

The U.S. Army was able to achieve a degree of success in disarmament by actively searching for weapons stockpiles across the country and from former soldiers. Special Forces units conducted search missions to locate and secure the Haitian Army's secret weapon caches. U.S. soldiers were also posted at Demobilization and Reintegration sites to search former soldiers when they showed up. As a result U.S. forces were able to secure over 16,000 Haitian military weapons. But due to the poor record-keeping of the Haitian military, it is difficult to know what percentage of total weapons this constitutes. Most analysts agree that 16,000 was far short of the number of weapons available to the Haitian military prior to the U.S. intervention. ⁵⁴

⁵⁴ Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security," 7-9; Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 14.

2. U.S. Demobilization and Reintegration Measures

When Aristide abolished the military, USAID was able to get approximately 3,550 former soldiers integrated into the Interim Public Security Forces (IPSF). Another estimated 3,440 voluntarily demobilized during the winter of 1995. Of the 3,440 that demobilized, only about 390 refused to participate in the reintegration program. In June 1995, when the Haitian National Police began to assume responsibility for providing security for Haiti and the IPSF began to release ex-military members, the demobilization and reintegration teams processed another wave of former soldiers.⁵⁵

The demobilization process had two parts: registration and orientation. Registration was easy, with registration sites located all over the country, five in Port-au-Prince and six in the other provinces. Eighty-two percent of those who registered did so in Port-au-Prince, indicating that most military members lived in and around the largest city. At the registration sites the MNF searched registrants for weapons; government officials confirmed their status as former military members, gave them a pay check, and offered them the reintegration program; and their military identification cards were replaced with those issued by USAID.⁵⁶

The second part, the orientation process, lasted four or five days: two days for general information, two days for explaining the vocational training program, and one day reserved for general questions and answers. The orientation process had several goals: (1) explain the Demobilization and Reintegration Program, (2) give former soldiers a chance to voice their concerns, (3) advise them on Haiti's economic and employment conditions, (4) prepare them to function in a democratic society, (5) prepare them for the challenges of returning to school, and (6) advise them on the challenges they would face as they transitioned to civilian life.⁵⁷ After demobilization was complete the next step for those who registered was reintegration.

The reintegration program had three components: vocational training, stipends, and the Opportunity and Referral Service (ORS). The vocational training lasted six

⁵⁵ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 15.

⁵⁶ Ibid., 16-17.

⁵⁷ Ibid., 17-18.

months, with courses being offered in twenty-three different schools, most of which were located in Port-au-Prince. Participants could choose to attend any of the following ten courses: auto mechanics, electricity, computers, welding, carpentry, plumbing, general mechanics, masonry, electronics, and refrigeration. Most participants chose to be auto mechanics.⁵⁸

Stipends, which equaled the pay soldiers had received in the military, allowed them to attend vocational training full time. However, the payment process was did not go smoothly. Though the Haitian government had agreed to pay the stipends, they later decided not to. Finally, in June 1995, the government decided it would pay the stipend out of a foreign donor fund.⁵⁹

After graduation, students had a difficult time finding a job, leading the U.S. International Development Agency to create the Opportunity and Referral Service, which gave seminars on writing a resume and how to conduct job searches and interviews. The ORS also became a forum for former soldiers to air their grievances and get counseling. After listening to graduates, the OR service realized that a diploma verifying their skills and a tool kit would help them in finding jobs. USAID then started issuing diplomas, and by the end of the program 97 percent of graduates had received a tool kit.⁶⁰

In sum, the DDR program in Haiti was able to secure over 16,000 weapons. More than 6,000 former soldiers of an estimated force size of 7,000 registered for demobilization. Over 80 percent (5,204) of registered soldiers participated in the reintegration program, with only a six-percent drop-out rate. While over 4,800 graduated, only six percent were able to get a job. Nonetheless, when the international forces left Haiti in November 1997, they believed the DDR program was a success. It appeared to have broken the power of the Haitian military and its allies and eliminated any potential of armed resistance.⁶¹ More important, the coercive approach had worked despite the

⁵⁸ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 18.

⁵⁹ Ibid., 19.

⁶⁰ Ibid., 20.

⁶¹ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 2; Mendelson-Forman, "Security Sector Reform in Haiti," 17; Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security," 9, 19.

lack of a peace agreement. The military had not agreed to be demobilized either in peace talks or any other accord, but it did not resist. How can this be explained?

a. Explaining the Apparent Success

Once the formal order to disband the Haitian military was given, the United States expected clashes with former soldiers, but none occurred. A key reason for this was the presence of a superior force providing security, which discouraged retaliation by former soldiers. There were more than 20,000 international troops in Haiti while the Haitian Army, even at full strength, did not exceed 7,000.⁶² Another reason was the Haitian military's lack of leadership. On September 19, 1994, when the multinational forces arrived, many of the Haitian military leaders went into exile, some into hiding just over the Dominican Republic's border.⁶³ Within this context, the demobilization and reintegration program was able to keep the rank-and-file soldiers sufficiently occupied that they did not pose a threat to the state. The International Development Agency was able to outmaneuver President Aristide, incorporating 3,500 former soldiers into the Interim Public Security Forces while others attended a six-month vocational training program.⁶⁴ Since only one officer was participating in the DDR program, this helped break the chain of command.

In sum, the DDR program was very successful in the short-run. The presence of a superior force deterred any large-scale, organized retaliation by former soldiers. International forces were able to establish a safe environment and transfer responsibilities to the United Nations Mission in Haiti, allowing it to operate safely until they departed Haiti in November 1997. However, the DDR program teams had failed to reintegrate former soldiers, a factor that was to have long-term ramifications.

⁶² Mendelson-Forman, "Security Sector in Haiti," 17-18.

⁶³ Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership," 3; "Haiti: CNN.com, "Haiti: The Past is a Prologue," *CNN.com*, March 3, 2004: 1,

http://www.cnn.com/2004/LAW/03/03/findlaw.analysis.mariner.haiti (accessed February 10, 2008); International Crisis Group, "A New Chance for Haiti," *International Crisis Group*, no. 10, November 10, 2004: 5, http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?id=3109&l=1 (accessed February 10, 2008).

⁶⁴ Ibid., 7.

D. THE DDR PROGRAM'S LONG-TERM FAILURE

In 2000, Aristide won the election and returned to the presidency, but during his second term the economic situation in Haiti grew worse. The police were increasingly accused of engaging in extra-judicial killings and of harassing supporters of Rene Preval, the previous president who had once been an ally of Aristide but was now a bitter rival. In addition, Aristide began to arm the paramilitary groups that supported him. One group, the Cannibal Army, was well known for its plundering and burning of the homes and offices of opposition members. Finally, under pressure from the international community, Aristide was forced to arrest the Cannibal Army leader, Amiot Metayer, who then became a fierce Aristide opponent. Metayer was accused of many political murders including those of opposition party members that occurred after the December 2001 attacks on the presidential palace. Metayer did not stay in jail long. His followers used a bulldozer to break into the jail, and he and more than 150 other prisoners escaped. This marked the beginning of the Metayer gang's reign of terror in the countryside.⁶⁵

Around this same time, former soldiers also began mobilizing. A number of former mid-level commanders including Guy Phillippe, Louis Jodel Chamberlain, Antoine Izmery, Jean Pierre Baptiste, and an ex-army colonel, Remissainthe Ravix, were angered by the military demobilization and being shut out of government jobs. They began mobilizing former rank-and-file soldiers who were largely disgruntled over the lack of jobs along the Dominican Republic's border. In 2002, they launched a number of attacks, killing civilians and harassing the police. But their terrorist acts were not just limited to civilians and police; they also killed government officials, including, on July 25, 2003, four members of the Ministry of Interior.⁶⁶

As Metayer's Cannibal Army's reign of terror became more destabilizing, the former soldiers joined forces with him to exploit the confusion in the North. On February 5, 2004, they seized Gonaives, the fourth-largest city in Haiti, and took control of the police station. The police relinquished control of the north, and as the rebels began to

⁶⁵ Henry F. Carey, "Militarization Without Civil War: The Security Dilemma and Regime Consolidation in Haiti," *Civil Wars*, 7, no. 4 (Winter 2005): 331-332.

⁶⁶ Mendelson-Forman, "Security Sector Reform in Haiti," 23.

march on the capital, President Aristide was forced to abdicate his office. If the U.S. Marines had not quickly deployed, the combined forces of the rebels would have taken control of the country.⁶⁷

Clearly, the international community's belief that the Haitian disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration program had eliminated macro-insecurity – the threat to the state posed by former soldiers – was mistaken. Nonetheless, the program had been successful in the short run: the former soldiers had not resisted the DDR process and, until 2004, did not threaten the state.

1. Reasons for the Eventual Failure of DDR

According to Spear, the factor most critical for success in a post-conflict situation is a peace agreement by which the parties agree to be demobilized and a political and military balance of power is created that is acceptable to all parties. In Haiti, this did not happen: the military did not agree beforehand to demobilization, thus creating a situation that called for a coercive form of DDR. But even without a peace treaty, it is conceivable that a DDR package could have been crafted that would have satisfied the military. However, while the terms of the package may have been acceptable to the United States, a major stakeholder in the DDR process, it would not have been acceptable to President Aristide.

In 1994, during Haiti's occupation, there were three main stakeholders operating in the country: the international community led by the United States; the Haitian government led by President Aristide; and the military whose top leaders were in exile.⁶⁸ Each of the three had its own view of the future role of the Haitian military. The United States believed it could be used to provide security in the short-term and then, after being vetted of personnel guilty of human rights violations, could help establish the Haitian National Police.⁶⁹ The legislative amnesty that General Cedras had secured for the military and the security the military initially provided during the occupation indicates that the military believed they would have a significant role in Haiti's security. But

⁶⁷ Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and US Policy Since 1991," 8.

⁶⁸ CNN.com, "Haiti: The Past is a Prologue," CNN.com, 1.

⁶⁹ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 13.

President Aristide, after being ousted by the military, wanted it dissolved.⁷⁰ He not only prevailed in this, he also succeeded in denying employment in the public sector, Haiti's largest employer, to demobilizing military members.

The Haitian military, on the other hand, was disgruntled with the terms of DDR. They wanted severance pay and/or retirement packages for those who had earned them. Part of the military members' pay went into a savings account, and they wanted that paid to them. They wanted to be able to get civil servant jobs, and many wanted the military reinstated. In brief, the ex-military members wanted to remain relevant in Haitian society and to have economic opportunities.⁷¹ Needless to say, they were not satisfied with their new role. But under both President Aristide's and President Preval's governments, their grievances were not addressed.

Most of the rank-and-file soldiers were especially frustrated by the lack of jobs. They had no means to provide for their families. And even though the DDR program was coercive, the Haitian government could have made economic opportunities available to former soldiers. If they had work or even believed that they had a chance of getting a job, it is highly unlikely that the lower-ranked soldiers would have been susceptible to recruitment by the mid-level leaders.

Recently, some scholars and practitioners of have criticized DDR programs for ignoring the special needs of mid-level commanders who are crucial to the success of most DDR programs. It is their participation that gives the programs legitimacy, and they can either get their subordinates to comply with DDR measures or to resist.⁷² The fact that only one officer participated in Haiti's DDR program indicates either that the mid-level leaders were not targeted by the program implementers or that the mid-level

⁷⁰ Jean-Germain Gros, "Haiti's Flagging Transition," 96.

⁷¹ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 13, 23-24; Mendelson-Forman, "Security Sector Reform in Haiti," 18; Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and US Policy Since 1991," 11.

⁷² Joanna Spear, "From Political Economies of was to Political Economies of Peace: The Contribution of DDR after Wars of Predation," *Contemporary Security Policy*, 27, no. 1 (April 2006): 181; Mark Sedra, "New Beginning or Return to Arms? The Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration Process in Bonn International Center for Conversion, "Afghanistan," Bonn International Center for Conversion (BICC), June 2003: 1-21. <u>http://www.ag-afghanistan.de/arg/arp/sedra.pdf</u> (accessed March 14, 2008).

commanders did not find the terms of DDR acceptable.⁷³ Among the many reasons that the former military members were disgruntled was the desire of most mid-level commanders for positions within the government. If the DDR package had addressed their needs and if the administrators had sought their participation in the DDR process, it is unlikely that the mid-level commanders would have led former soldiers in a rebellion against the state.

However, some mid-level commanders could not have been part of the government or been targeted for DDR; they were guilty of gross human rights violations and should be prosecuted. Viscous leaders like Louis Jodel Chamberlain were suspected of numerous heinous crimes against humanity, and arguably, would have tried to launch an attack against the state when and if the opportunity presented itself .⁷⁴ But the probability of these wicked individuals being successful in recruiting employed former soldiers to lead a large-scale rebellion against the state would have been greatly reduced.

In sum, if the Haitian government had created a DDR package that was more effective in providing economic opportunities for rank-and-file soldiers and allowed midlevel commanders the public sector jobs they desired, the macro-insecurities posed by former soldiers would have been reduced.

The disarmament part of the DDR program also failed, largely because there was no agreement between the United States and President Aristide. Consequently, Haitian soldiers were initially demobilized without being disarmed. They simply took their weapons home and thus were able to use them while participating in the rebellion of 2004. An agreement between the United States and the Haitian government may have prevented this. It could have provided for the successful disarmament of soldiers in a controlled environment, which would have prevented ex-military members from having access to high-powered, military-style weapons to launch an attack against the state.⁷⁵

⁷³ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 3.

⁷⁴ Joanne Mariner, "Haiti: The Past is a Prologue," CNN.com, March 3, 2004. <u>http://edition.cnn.com/2004/LAW/03/03/findlaw.analysis.mariner.haiti/index.html</u> (accessed March 14, 2008).

⁷⁵ Daniel Lak, "Problem of Haiti's gun Culture," BBN News, March 11, 2004. <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/americas/3500290.stm</u> (accessed February 24, 2008).

Spear argues also that the implementation environment of a DDR program must be conducive for success by having the support of local governments; and implementers must be willing to take on "statelike roles (e.g., protection of citizens and provisions of welfare)."⁷⁶ This did not happen in Haiti. President Aristide and his ministers distanced themselves from the DDR program, refusing to pay stipends for soldiers enrolled in vocational training programs. More important, the government failed to communicate to the public the long-term benefits of the program and reconciliation. Many Haitians despised former soldiers, who were viewed as oppressors and potential trouble-makers. They were stigmatized and, as a result, after graduating from vocational training they were unable to find jobs in the private sector. The public sector, the country's largest employer, offered no relief, since former soldiers were prohibited from holding government jobs. Only six percent of former soldiers were able to secure a legitimate means of income.⁷⁷

Another element of the implementation environment is the need for implementers who are able to perform statelike duties, such as providing welfare relief and security. Providing welfare for former soldiers was an area in which the U.S. Agency of International Development did not believe it would be involved. Also, the government was unwilling to pay former soldiers their stipends for attending the reintegration program. The stipends were almost the same amount that soldiers had been paid when on active duty. Without the stipends soldiers were unable to attend the program full-time. They were busy searching for alternative sources of income. Eventually, USAID was able to secure stipends, which enabled former soldiers to attend vocational training full-time.⁷⁸

For a time, the United States and other international forces provided a safe and secure environment for implementation of DDR and deterred any potential for armed rebellions, but that was only a temporary fix. After the last international security force departed Haiti in November 1997, the newly established Haitian National Police became the sole providers of Haitian security. But the force was poorly equipped, inexperienced,

⁷⁶ Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 151.

⁷⁷ Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 14, 33, 52-54.

⁷⁸ Ibid., 53.

and too small to provide adequate security. A country the size of Haiti with a population of eight million people required a police force of at least 14,000 personnel. The HNP, with just slightly above 5,000 members, was unable to prevent former soldiers and criminal gangs from marching on the capital and threatening the democratic Haitian state.⁷⁹

In sum, the DDR implementation environment for the most part was not conducive to success, the Haitian government did not support the program, and the indigenous security force established by the program implementers was not sufficiently empowered to provide adequate security. The implementers' main achievement was that they were able to secure funds for former soldiers to attend the program full-time.

A third aspect necessary for DDR to be successful is that the implementers must coordinate with other agencies.⁸⁰ As the program's failure in Haiti clearly demonstrated, no one agency can achieve success in and of itself, and in Haiti, the DDR program was conducted unilaterally by USAID. Another agency that might have been of significant help was the UN, which has vast amounts of resources and experience in conducted DDR in both Latin America and Africa. But, USAID could not coordinate with the UN, and DDR was not part of the UN's mandate. At the very least, it and other developmental agencies could have assisted USAID in securing jobs for former soldiers outside of the public sector. But its wealth of expertise, knowledge, and resources were not brought to bear in Haiti. USAID might also have used some assistance from the Haitian government in getting former soldiers reintegrated back into their communities.

But ultimately, for DDR to be successful and sustainable, the community must be consulted and engaged.⁸¹ In Haiti, the local government officials distanced themselves from the DDR program, and so did the local communities. Consequently, USAID neither consulted nor engaged the local communities. Thus, the reintegration plan was developed and implemented without the community's input. USAID, in isolation, believed that by

⁷⁹ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration of the State," 7-8.

⁸⁰ Spear, "Disarmament and Demobilization," 154.

⁸¹ Pouligny, "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary," 11.

giving former soldiers certain skills they would be accepted back into their local neighborhoods, but that did not happen. Instead, they were stigmatized and rejected by their communities, and eventually sought refuge near the Dominican Republic's border where mid-level commanders were conspiring to attack the state.⁸²

Thus, yet another area of failure was border security. Both the United States and the UN believed that weapons were coming across the Haitian–Dominican Republic border, which neither the United States nor the UN did anything to secure. Both claimed it was not in their mandate. However, weapons were not the only thing coming across: former military leaders crossed the border during the occupation to avoid capture. Louis Jodel Chamblain, for example, a sergeant in the Haitian army, had been tried and found guilty in absentia for killing government officials in 1993.⁸³ He had escaped trial by hiding across the border, then reentered Haiti after the occupation to help plan and lead the armed rebellion of 2004.

As we have said, it is commonly believed that a coercive approach to DDR will invariably end in failure, because a coercive approach is usually only used in the absence of a peace agreement. But, failure in Haiti did not occur because of the lack of a peace treaty. Our research shows that a DDR package might have been developed that would have satisfied the needs of both the former mid-level commanders and the rank-and-file. An agreement outlining the DDR process between the Haitian government and the United States would also have increased the likelihood of success. Instead, as we have shown, there were numerous reasons for the DDR program's eventual failure in Haiti: a lack of national government and interagency support and coordination; an inadequate indigenous security force; a lack of coordination and engagement with the local communities; and a failure to secure the border. These shortcomings are not inherent to the use of a coercive approach: in the case of Haiti, they were a product of poor planning and implementation.

⁸² Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 53-54; Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and US Policy Since 1991," 11; Bailey et al, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership," 7; "Haiti: Recycled Soldiers and Paramilitaries on the March," Human Rights Watch, February 27, 2004: 3. http://www.hrw.org/english/docs/2004/02/27/haiti7677_txt.pdf (accessed February 24, 2008).

⁸³ Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and US Policy Since 1991," 11.

E. CONCLUSION

In 2004, a rebellion led by former soldiers against the Haitian state made it clear that the DDR program had failed and undone all that had been accomplished during the reconstruction effort in the period from 1994 to 1997. After the rebellion, the international community had to launch yet another reconstruction effort in Haiti. Thus its experience demonstrates how critical it is for DDR programs to be successful in achieving both short-term and long-term effects.

In the short-run, Haiti was successful in defusing the threat that former soldiers posed to the state (i.e., macro-insecurity) and allowing the mission to be accomplished in a safe environment. Thus, Haiti's case clearly shows that coercive DDR can be at least temporarily successful. In the long-run; however, success was unsustainable, mainly because the terms of the DDR program were unacceptable to ex-military members, there was no agreement between the United States and the Haitian government, and no community engagement in the DDR process. All these contributed significantly to the failure of DDR in Haiti. Though the experience in Haiti was not a complete success, there are many lessons that might be learned from it regarding the elimination of macroinsecurities when using coercive DDR is the only option. THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

III. DDR IN HAITI: 2004–2007

A. INTRODUCTION

In February 2004, armed gangs and former soldiers joined forces and marched on the capital of Haiti, Port-au-Prince. On February 29, President Aristide was forced to resign the presidency and once again leave the country.⁸⁴ That same day, the UN Security Council passed Resolution 1529 authorizing a three-month Multinational Interim Force (MIF) to restore order in Haiti. The force totaled three thousand personnel, with troops from countries such as Chile, Canada, and France, led by the United States. Largely due to its size and mandate, the MIF, though able to restore order, was unable to undertake any reconstruction projects or to disarm rebel groups.⁸⁵ The latter task would fall to the UN Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) which assumed responsibility in Haiti on June 1, 2004. Led by Brazil, the stabilization mission totaled 6,700 military troops and 1,622 civilian police from over a dozen countries: Argentina, Benin, Bolivia, Canada, Chile, Croatia, France, Guatemala, Nepal, Paraguay, Peru, Rwanda, and the United States.⁸⁶

The UN Stabilization Mission was faced not only with the challenge of disarming former members of the Haitian military, but also with confronting and conducting the disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration of violent gangs, which presented unique and unfamiliar challenges to the international community. This chapter will focus on how and why MINUSTAH, working with the Haitian government, succeeded in demobilizing former soldiers (even in the absence of a peace agreement), but failed to disarm the gang members, which consequently continue to threaten Haiti's stability.

⁸⁴ Actionaid International, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 6.

⁸⁵ Robert Fatton, Jr., "Haiti: The Saturnalia of Emancipation and the Vicissitudes of Predatory Rule," *Third World Quarterly*, 27, no. 1 (February 1, 2006): 125-126; International Peacekeeping, "Peacekeeping Mission Updates: March-April 2004." *International Peacekeeping*, 11, no 4, (Winter 2004): 718.

⁸⁶ The American Journal of International Law, "Replacement of U.S.-Led Force in Haiti with UN Peacekeeping Mission," *The American Journal of International Law*, 98, no. 3, (July 2004): 588.

B. FORMER SOLDIERS AND COOPERATIVE DDR

The former soldiers who had taken up arms against the state, believed to number approximately 5,700, were concentrated in the center of Haiti around Hinche with some influence in the north and Gonaive. They were led by Louis Jodel Chamblain and Guy Philippe. As ex-military members, they were not interested in creating long-term instability and insecurity. They only wanted to cause enough trouble to convince the Haitian public that the military should be reinstated to provide stability and security.⁸⁷

According to a Wayne State University survey of crimes in Haiti conducted between February 2004 and December 2005, former soldiers were accused of committing only 13 percent of the murders and 20 percent of the kidnappings.⁸⁸ Unlike the violent gangs, they were not known for committing large-scale murders, kidnappings, sexual and physical assaults, or property crimes.⁸⁹ Also unlike gangs, the former soldiers had specific grievances they wanted addressed: reinstatement of the military; ten years of back pay; retirement packages for those who qualified; and eligibility for civil servant jobs.⁹⁰

1. Former Soldiers Disarmed

After President Aristide departed Haiti, an interim government was created to take charge of the state and prepare the country for general elections. The UN Stabilization Mission and the interim government took a cooperative approach to DDR that focused on disarming the former soldiers. Prime Minister Gerard LaTortue of the interim government, who called former soldiers "freedom fighters," agreed to negotiate with them.⁹¹ In addressing their major issues and concerns, he agreed to look into the possibility of reinstating the military by creating a special board to look into the matter.

⁸⁷ International Crisis Group, "A New Chance for Haiti," 16-18.

⁸⁸ Kolbe et al, "Human Rights Abuse and Other Criminal Violations in Port-au-Prince," 869.
⁸⁹ Ibid.

⁹⁰ Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and U.S. Policy," 11; International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration," 4; Dworken et al, "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program," 23-24.

⁹¹ Ibid., 11.

Former military members who qualified but were denied retirement packages would start receiving them. And former soldiers would be allowed to join the Haitian National Police (HNP). Three hundred former soldiers joined immediately and others were allowed to enter the police academy.⁹² While the international community did not approve at first, LaTortue assured them that former soldiers would be subjected to the same vetting process as everyone else.⁹³ As part of the negotiations, one of the soldiers' leaders, Louis Jodel Chamblain negotiated for a retrial for crimes he had been convicted of in absentia and was acquitted. Thus, the threat that the former soldiers had posed to the state and population was virtually eliminated. By early 2006, both MINUSTAH and the Haitian government no longer considered ex-military members a threat to Haiti's stability and security.⁹⁴

Armed gangs, however, remained a destabilizing force and spoiler to the reconstruction process. Armed gangs had also participated with the former soldiers in the rebellion against President Aristide and were committing over 80 percent of the crimes in Haiti. Significantly, the DDR program developed by the UN Stabilization Mission and the interim government did not target armed gangs.⁹⁵ They were considered a problem to be handled by the local police and justice system.

C. FAILURE OF THE LAW ENFORCEMENT APPROACH TO CONTROL ARMED GANGS

In general, armed gangs are motivated mostly by economic reasons. And, according to the International Crisis Group, extreme poverty and the lack of economic opportunities are the two biggest contributors to the gang culture and violence in Haiti.⁹⁶ According to the World Bank, Haiti is the poorest country in the Western hemisphere: its economic and social indicators are lower even than the average for Latin America and the Caribbean. The average life expectancy in Haiti is 52 years, compared to the regional

⁹² International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 7.

⁹³ Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and U.S. Policy," 11.

^{.94} International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 5.

⁹⁵ Kolbe et al, "Human Rights Abuse and Other Criminal Violations in Port-au-Prince," 869.

⁹⁶ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration of the State," 5.

average of 71. Infant mortality is 79 per 1,000 live births, more than twice the regional average. Malnutrition affects about half the children under the age of five, and half the Haitian adult population is illiterate. Most of the population lives in abject poverty with 78 percent of Haitians living on less than two dollars per day.⁹⁷ Haiti has also long been one of the most corrupt countries in the world.⁹⁸

Armed gangs in Haiti commit murders, rapes, and robberies and engage in extortion and kidnappings. The latter is by far the most lucrative way to make a living, with ransoms for victims ranging from fifty dollars for a street vendor to tens of thousands for professionals. By sharing their earnings with the people within their communities, the gangs also earn the support of the people.⁹⁹ They are mainly concentrated in Port-au-Prince, especially in the slums of Cite Soleil. While the gangs are numerous, it is difficult to determine their size: some have as few as twenty members, some as many as eighty.¹⁰⁰

Haiti's ineffective police and justice system has failed to resolve gang violence; some even argue that they contribute to the problem. They fail not only to deter criminal activities but also to provide adequate security to discourage citizens from arming themselves for protection. In the aftermath of the insurrection in 2004, the Haitian National Police was reduced to fewer than 3,000 officers, far fewer than the 14,000 officers judged necessary to provide security for a nation of eight million. Many officers fled as rebels approached the police stations in the north; and some are believed to have joined armed gangs. To make matters worse, between March and the end of 2004, the interim government dismissed 350 police officers for corruption, but they were not

⁹⁷ World Bank. "Haiti Country Brief," World Bank Country Briefs 2007, http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/COUNTRIES/LACEXT/HAITIEXTN/0,,menuPK:33818 8~pagePK:141132~piPK:141107~theSitePK:338165,00.html (accessed February 26, 2008).

⁹⁸ Transparency International, "The Transparency International Corruption Perception Index," 2007. <u>http://www.transparency.org/news_room/in_focus/2007/cpi 2007_table</u>

⁹⁹ Manuel Roig-Franzia, "U.N. Peacekeepers Raid Slum in Haiti," *Washington Post Foreign Service*, February 10, 2007: A12

http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2007/02/09/AR2007020900902.html (accessed January 25, 2008).

¹⁰⁰ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration of the State," 5-6.

disarmed. Another 25 percent were suspected of being corrupt. It is the corruption and human rights violations of the HNP that has caused many citizens to identify with gang members.¹⁰¹

Like the police force, the judicial system is known for its widespread corruption. Many judges who were political appointees lack the necessary education and training to carry out their duties. Some are illiterate. They are underpaid, with salaries much lower than those of prosecutors and police officers. But, unlike the police, judges go months at a time without being paid. As a result, judges are susceptible to bribes and corruption; thus, it is a common belief in Haiti that justice can be bought. The executive branch is also known for interfering with the outcome of cases. The police complain that the justice system is broken. They arrest individuals only to have them released later without being punished.¹⁰² Moreover, the prison system is not much better. Uprisings by prisoners protesting their living conditions are common and prison breaks are frequent.

The gangs were not afraid of either the police or going through the justice system. It was unlikely in the first place that the police would catch them, and if caught and brought before a judge, they would simply buy their freedom. Or failing that and going to prison, they would escape. Thus, there was little incentives to fear or follow the law. The police were ineffective, the justice system was broken, and there were no legitimate opportunities for youths to make a living. The one sure option available was to join a gang and earn a living through illegal and violent means.

In effect, while the gangs were not interested in overthrowing the state, they posed a micro-insecurity threat to the Haitian population. Thus, for the reconstruction effort to be a success, they had to be disarmed and neutralized.

¹⁰¹ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Justice Reform and the Security Crisis," 7; "A New Chance for Haiti," *International Crisis Group*, no. 10, November 18, 2004: 17-20, <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/library/documents/latin_america/10%20A%20New%20Chance%20for%20Hait</u> i.pdf (accessed February 13, 2008).

¹⁰² Ibid., 2-9.

D. THE FAILURE OF COERCIVE DDR TARGETING OF GANGS

Following his inauguration in May 2006, President Preval blamed the interim government and the UN Stabilization Mission in Haiti for not doing enough to reduce gang violence. Viewing negotiations as a better option than raids, which could lead to the loss of many lives, Preval initially decided to negotiate with the gangs. Though President Preval offered economic aid and job training packages in return for disarmament, most of the gang members refused the offer and the violence and kidnappings increased. President Preval took this as an insult and in August 2006 warned the gangs to disarm or face possible death, an announcement that marked the launching of a new DDR program to target the gangs of Haiti.¹⁰³ Since gangs would not disarm voluntarily, they would be disarmed by force.

In implementing the disarmament process, the UN Stabilization Mission, with support from the government, adopted an integrated approach. The plan was to synchronize the efforts of various agencies – the HNP, the justice system, the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), the International Organization for Migration (IOM), the UN Children's Fund (UNICEF), and the newly created National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (NCDDR) by the Haitian government to conduct an effective DDR program. The plan was divided into three phases, beginning with forcible disarmament.

Members of the UN Stabilization Mission joined a special team of trusted HNP officers, prosecutors, and judges to catch and punish gang members. Working together, they set up checkpoints and conducted raids to disarm gang members forcibly. The second phase of this integrated approach was to support the disarmament effort with community development, job creation, and an improved infrastructure, including services such as electricity and potable water. This aspect of the process was important in convincing gang members to join the reintegration program by showing them that legitimate economic opportunities would be available. The implicit message was that a

¹⁰³ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 11-13; Caribbean Media Corporation, "Gangs Pledge to Disarm but set Conditions," *Haiti Democracy Project*, August 10, 2006. <u>http://www.haitipolicy.org/content/3624.htm?PHPSESSID=f7967446ce89cc44a9e1ecbaf4046e33</u> (accessed January 25, 2007).

gun was not the only means to earn a living. This phase was also meant to combat the perception that the DDR program was benefiting the perpetrators of crime but ignoring its victims. Finally, the National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration was created to coordinate the various agencies' efforts and run the reintegration programs.¹⁰⁴ All three phases of the disarmament process were designed to operate interdependently and simultaneously with one another.

According to the plan, gang members were to turn in their weapons at disarmament sites and be subjected to an investigation to determine whether or not they were suspected of any crimes. If they were, they would be prosecuted but would receive leniency. If they were not suspected of any crimes, they could join the reintegration program and receive vocational training. Upon completion, they would be offered job referral and placement services. Simultaneously, communities would receive developmental aid to create jobs and improve their living conditions. Meanwhile, the UN Stabilization Mission and HNP teams conducted raids to increase security by physically disarming and prosecuting gang members. Captured gang members would be prosecuted by the selected team of trusted lawyers and judges. In addition, President Preval made vetting the HNP a priority and promised to increase its size to 14,000 by 2010.¹⁰⁵

So far, the program has been successful in improving security, which has in turn led to a reduction in crime. But it has not convinced gang members to disarm. The International Crisis Group's latest report on disarmament in Haiti, July 18, 2007, almost a year since launching of the DDR program, classified the program as a failure.¹⁰⁶ As recently as November 2007, of the 100,000 weapons believed to be in the hands of gang members, only a few thousand old, rusty, and inoperable weapons had been collected, and only 353 members out of thousands of youths had registered to enter the reintegration

¹⁰⁴ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 11-15; "MINUSTAH: DDR and Police, Judicial and Correctional Reform in Haiti." *Actionaid International*, July 2006: 9. <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/library/documents/2006/actionaid-hti-13jul.pdf</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).

¹⁰⁵ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration," 3, 7-8; International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Justice Reform and the Security Crisis." 10. http://www.stimson.org/fopo/pdf/MINUSTAH Fact Sheet July 07.pdf (accessed October 19, 2007).

¹⁰⁶ International Crisis Group, "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," 4.

program.¹⁰⁷ Gangs are being forced to disarm but are fighting back. In a raid conducted by MINUSTAH in December 2006, fifteen MINUSTAH soldiers lost their lives and over thirty Haitian civilians were killed. Members of the community, including a popular radio announcer, who were suspected of cooperating with the DDR program were killed by gang members.¹⁰⁸ In short, the DDR program is not disarming the gangs of Haiti.

E. **EXPLAINING THE FAILURE**

The failure of the government's effort to negotiate a peace treaty with the gangs does not portend well for the success of DDR. This failure to come to terms on the content of a DDR program suggests that the use of a unilateral, coercive approach is destined to fail because the implementers will inevitably be unable to create a DDR program that is acceptable to gang leaders.

Why did the negotiation attempts fail? First, the implementers were familiar with negotiating with groups that had developed a strict command structure after years of fighting with whom they could negotiate an agreement on DDR. This was not the situation in Haiti. Thus it presented an unfamiliar challenge to the plan implementers. They had to negotiate with gangs that did not have strict command structures. In contrast, the interim government had been able to successfully reach an agreement on DDR with former soldiers because they were more typical combatants with a leadership that could negotiate on behalf of its members. Unlike former soldiers, the criminal gangs were splintered with many leaders. There was no leadership structure to represent them all.

As Ambassador Edmond Mulet, the UN special representative in Haiti, has pointed out, an agreement with gangs was always unlikely.¹⁰⁹ Mulet stressed the idea that gangs are neither an army nor a guerilla group with whom a disarmament plan could be negotiated. They tend to be too splintered with too many leaders. Therefore, any plan to

¹⁰⁷ The Henry L. Stimson Center, "MINUSTAH: Peace Operations Fact Sheet,"; Strategy Page, "Haiti: Vigilantes Rule," Strategy Page, August 4, 2007. http://www.strategypage.com/qnd/haiti/articles/20070804.aspx (accessed February 13, 2008).

¹⁰⁸ Raul Zibechi, "Repression in Haiti: The Responsibility of the Left," Americas Program Report, March 28, 2007, http://americas.irc-online.org/pdf/reports/0703haitigenocide-eng.pdf (accessed February 26, 2008); "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," 1-4.

¹⁰⁹ Federal News Service, "Roundtable Discussion with Ambassador Edmond Mulet."

disarm gangs must take an individual approach, not the group approach taken in previous DDR efforts. It is the individual gang members, not the gang as a whole, who have to be convinced to disarm.¹¹⁰

In addition, in Haiti, the government and the gangs could not agree on the terms of the DDR program. Whereas the gangs wanted total amnesty, both President Preval and representatives of the UN Stabilization Mission refused to consider amnesty as an option. But without amnesty, gang leaders claimed, their members would not disarm. They would surrender weapons, but only those in poor condition, keeping the good ones for future use. Another reason that the gangs refused to agree to the DDR plan was that the government could not guarantee their safety. They feared that if they disarmed and other gangs did not, they could become victims themselves of gang violence. They did not believe the state could protect them if they chose to disarm.

As Spear points out regarding her fifth factor, verification, disarming groups need to be reassured through a verification process that rival groups are also disarming. In Haiti, President Preval could not get all the gangs to agree to disarm and he failed to offer any alternatives to verification, such as protection for demobilizing gangs and individuals. Consequently, the gang leaders refused his disarmament offer. As a result, the implementers took a more coercive approach to the disarmament, only to find that the few weapons being surrendered were inoperable.¹¹¹

The implementation environment was more conducive to success than ever before because of the local government's support. The creation of the National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration demonstrated that the local government both supported and participated in the DDR program. They were not just sitting on the sidelines while an international force disarmed its citizens.

Despite all these efforts, however, the DDR implementers were unable to provide the kind of security and welfare necessary for the program to work. As a direct result of the combined operations of agents of the UN Stabilization Mission and the Haitian police

¹¹⁰ Federal News Service, "Roundtable Discussion with Ambassador Edmond Mulet."

¹¹¹ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 11-13; International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Security and Reintegration," 12; Caribbean Media Corporation, "Gangs Pledge to Disarm but set Conditions."

who had been providing security in city slums where crime rates were high, the crime rate was significantly reduced. Today, police officers are able to patrol the streets of Cite Soleil, which they had been unable to do for years. Moreover, kidnappings, gangsters' favorite means of making money, were down from 130 in December 2006 to 9 in March 2007.¹¹² The continuation of these combined efforts is laying the foundations for the police to provide adequate security for the Haitian people after the UN Stabilization Mission personnel depart. If successful, Haiti's security force will not collapse as it did in 2004 when the government faced a large-scale rebellion. As of January 2008, the Haitian police force numbered almost 9,000, an increase of almost 6,000 since 2004. Also, the justice system is being reformed and President Preval is considering the creation of a National Guard unit to help with patrolling duties.¹¹³ Nonetheless, though the implementation environment is more secure, there is still a problem: the gangs are not disarming.

The increase in direct action — patrolling, raids, and setting-up checkpoints — by both UN personnel and the police has created a more secure environment for both the implementers and the Haitian people. The improvement in security is apparently not sufficient to convince gangs to disarm. And the DDR implementers in Haiti cannot be satisfied with just the safety of the general public. In addition to deterring violence and the occurrence of kidnappings, they must increase the risk of joining a gang by aggressively going after gang members. At the same time, they must assure gang members that if they choose to disarm they will be safe. Currently, it is the gangs themselves that are discouraging disarmament and participation in the DDR process, by killing any individual suspected of assisting DDR efforts.

The DDR program have also failed to deliver welfare programs that were promised to communities in the form of economic and developmental aids. Therefore, gang members are being coerced to disarm and join training programs for jobs that do not exist. This is detrimental to the program's ultimate success because, as history shows, it

¹¹² International Crisis Group, "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," 28.

¹¹³ International Crisis Group, "Haiti: Justice Reform and the Security Crisis," 2-11; Jacqueline Charles, "Haiti Makes Strides in Modernizing Police Force," *MINUSTAH.ORG*, January 15, 2008). <u>http://www.minustah.org/blogs/657/Haiti-makes-strides-in-modernizing-police-force.html</u> (accessed February 14, 2008).

is the job-creation and employment aspects of the reintegration process that guarantee long-term success. Failure here, as occurred with the earlier DDR program between 1995 and 1997, will lead to failure in the entire reconstruction effort. In September 2007, the citizens of Cite Soleil gathered outside the UN headquarters to demonstrate against both the security operations that UN Stabilization Mission in Haiti was conducting in their communities and the lack of jobs and economic development.¹¹⁴ If the economic packages promised are not delivered, the disarmament program could lose local support.

Research shows that a major reason the welfare needs are not being met is that the implementers are not coordinating their actions and work with other agencies. According to the plan developed under the integrated approach, the National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration was created to coordinate and synchronize the efforts of various agencies functioning within the Haitian operational space. However, the Commission lacks the ability both to compel other agencies to fulfill their roles in the DDR process and to secure funds for developmental projects and the reintegration program. As a result, 150 of the 353 gang members who have registered for the reintegration program are still waiting to be accepted. The program lacks funding because, according to the international donors, they find the vetting process by the National Commission to be suspicious.¹¹⁵ Communities are still waiting for their promised developmental projects. In addition, there are no incentives for communities to support the disarmament program or for gang members to view disarmament as a viable alternative to gang violence. And thus, overall, critics like Robert Muggah have classified the integrated approach in Haiti as "disintegrated."¹¹⁶ He found no synchronization or coordination of efforts occurring in Haiti.¹¹⁷

It was also found that inadequate border and port security also contributed to the DDR failure in Haiti. Weapons are coming across the border from the Dominican

¹¹⁴ Carmen Gentile, "UN Peacekeepers Cracking Down on Violence in Haiti," *VOANews.com*, September 17, 2007. <u>http://www.voanews.com/english/archive/2007-09/2007-09-17-</u> voa36.cfm?CFID=270518787&CFTOKEN=79821011 (accessed February 14, 2008).

¹¹⁵ The Henry L. Stimsom Center, "MINUSTAH: Peace Operations Fact Sheet."

¹¹⁶ Robert Muggah, "Great Expectations: (dis)integrated DDR in Sudan and Haiti," 3.

¹¹⁷ Ibid., 3-4.

Republic and by sea from the United States. Indeed, according to the U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms, most illegal weapons leaving southern Florida are bound for Haiti.¹¹⁸ To cut off the sources of weapons in an already volatile environment, it is crucial that the ports and the border be secured. Agents of UN Stabilization Mission in Haiti agree: the ports and border are a problem and they plan to focus on this area in 2008.¹¹⁹

F. CONCLUSION

The planned integrated approach currently being implemented in Haiti is no more than coercive DDR. But it has not failed because it is coercive. It has failed because the security being implemented neither discourages gang membership nor encourages disarmament. The program also lacks community participation because their safety is at risk when they do participate and implementers do not offer any employment guarantees. Overall, Haiti does not provide legitimate opportunities for its youth to make a living, and the reintegration program offers little more than job training. The poor conditions and lack of jobs make a life of violence for profit very attractive. Like the former soldiers who participated in the 2004 rebellion largely because they were unable to find a job, if Haiti's youth are not offered economic opportunities they will continue to engage in violent crimes and the current improvement in security will be short-lived, just as it was in the late 1990s and in early 2000s.

In sum, the DDR programs in Haiti that were undertaken without an agreement targeting former soldiers in 1995 and gangs in 2006, have failed to achieve their desired goals. When there was an agreement, as was demonstrated with former soldiers between 2004 and mid-2006, the program was successful. Because of these varying factors, while

¹¹⁸ Morales-Taft, "Haiti: Developments and U.S. Policy," 6; Fatton, "Haiti: The Saturnalia of Emancipation," 125, Actionaid International, "MINUSTAH: DDR and Police, Judicial and Correctional Reform in Haiti," 7-9; Jake Bergman, "Guns Smuggled From South Florida Arming Haitians," *Sun-Sentinel*, March 6, 2004: 1-3.

¹¹⁹ International Crisis Group, "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," 15-17; UN News Center, "Haiti: UN Pledges to Help Government Improve Security in 2008," *UN News Center*, January 8, 2008. http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=25232&Cr=Haiti&Cr1 (accessed February 14, 2008).

the Haitian cases offer few positive lessons, they do provide insight into the aspects that must be improved if coercive DDR programs are to succeed.

Chapter IV will discuss the situation in Albania where, despite the lack of a peace agreement, a program of disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration directed at noncombatants was successfully implemented. The applicability of lessons identified in the Albanian case for other instances of coercive DDR will also be examined.

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

IV. DISARMAMENT IN ALBANIA: 1997–1999

A. INTRODUCTION

Today, Haiti is still faced with the problem of disarming gang members. Implementers have attempted to force gang members to disarm but have failed to address the issues of poor economic development — one of the root causes of gang violence As UN Ambassador Mulet has pointed out, to be effective, a Haitian disarmament plan must be directed at the individual gang member. Thus, Haiti needs a disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration program that is designed both to address the economic hardships and to persuade individual gang members to lay down their arms. To achieve that design, much can be learned from the successful disarmament program implemented in Albania, which offers insight into how economic development can be joined with improved security to convince gang-members into disarming. Albania's plan was successful because it addressed the root causes of gang violence and drew on the power of communities to coerce gang members into disarming. These are precisely the areas in which DDR implementers in Haiti have been unsuccessful.

The Albanian program shows that a "coercive" disarmament program (i.e., one undertaken in the absence of a peace treaty) need not rely only on military or police forces to physically disarm individuals. Citizens can be persuaded by alternative means to disarm. In Albania, addressing the root causes that led individuals to arm themselves in the first place and including communities in the disarmament process proved to be far more effective and sustainable than using physical force. But to achieve disarmament, the international community must also be willing to employ unconventional methods when required. Together, the Albanian government and international community pioneered an innovative community-based approach in Gramsh, one of Albania's thirty-six districts. The Gramsh Pilot Program (GPP) was such a success that it was replicated nationwide.

In this chapter, Spear's five factors will be used to identify and evaluate the elements that contributed to Albania's success. The chapter will also look at how the

Albanian program was implemented in a post-conflict environment where there were no peace agreements and where the target of disarmament was the general populace.

B. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Albania's weapons problem can be traced back to the 1960s when Albania severed its ties with the USSR and aligned itself with China. Fearing a Soviet invasion, the Albanian government began to distribute small arms for militias throughout the country to be used in national defense.¹²⁰ After the Cold War ended, the fear of an invasion was replaced by poor economic conditions and insecurity as state-owned industries collapsed and unemployment and emigration rates skyrocketed.¹²¹

In this environment of insecurity and an emerging free market, a young and vibrant private sector began to generate "an increasing amount of domestic savings." "In 1995 private savings reached almost 15 percent of GDP, or 350 million (up from practically zero two or three years earlier)."¹²² These inexperienced account holders became easy targets for swindlers who launched "pyramid schemes" promising investors anywhere from 10 to 50 percent interest monthly. Many Albanians moved their entire savings from banks to pyramid accounts. In early 1997 the pyramids collapsed, resulting in hundreds of thousands of Albanians losing their life savings.¹²³ "About a third of the country was waiting to see how their main question would be answered: Who will give them their money back?"¹²⁴

Many Albanians believed that the government should repay the money. It was difficult for Albanians to accept that an investment scheme involving every other Albanian household was not guaranteed by the government. Once it was clear that the

¹²⁰ Chris Smith, "Illegal Arms in Albania and European Security," Palais des Nations: Geneva Forum Seminar, September 16, 1998: 15–16, <u>http://www.geneva-forum.org/Reports/salw_vol1/19980916.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹²¹ Holly Beck, Putting Security First: Weapons for Development as an Approach to Micro-Disarament, Undergraduate thesis, 2004: 22, <u>http://www.jha.ac/articles/a152.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹²² Carlos Elbert, "Albania Under the Shadow of the Pyramids," *World BANK* (2001): 1, <u>http://www.worldbank.org/html/prddr/trans/so97/albania2.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹²³ Elbert, "Albania Under the Shadow of the Pyramids," 1.

¹²⁴ CNN World News, "Some Albania Rebels Agree to Lay Down Arms," *CNN World News*, March 10, 1997, <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9703/10/albania.rebels/index.html</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

government would not be compensating investors for their losses, the people took to the streets. They raided an estimated 1,300 armories, police stations, and National Intelligence Service sites. It is believed that over 550,000 light weapons, 900 million rounds of ammunition, and six million explosives were stolen and were now in the hands of civilians.¹²⁵ This abundance of arms in civilian hands resulted in an upsurge in crime, looting, and violent clashes between the police and armed citizens. The perception that government officials may have profited from the pyramid schemes and the government's failure to control the violence led to the resignation of Prime Minister Aleksander Meksi and his ministers on March 1, 1997, and the eventual resignation of President Sali Berisha on July 23. Amidst the chaos and violence, the country narrowly escaped a civil war as tensions between the north and south increased.¹²⁶

The fear of a possible civil war in an unstable region led the international community in April 1997 to launch "Operation Alba," a multinational force led by Italy and supported by the UN Security Council. Operation Alba dispelled any possibility of a civil war. The multinational force's main objective was to ensure the safe delivery of humanitarian aid. The task of disarming civilians was left largely to the Albanian government. It is estimated that between March and September, 1,311 people were killed and another 1,450 wounded.¹²⁷ The German ambassador to the UN summarized the situation best when he concluded that "The number of weapons per capita in Albania is extraordinarily high. These weapons delay political and economic progress. They endanger the life of each citizen in Albania, increase criminality rates and further

¹²⁵ Hans Risser, "Encouraging Disarmament: The Use of Individual and Collective Incentives in VWCP," *Monterey Institute of International Studies* (December 2003): 14, <u>http://sand.miis.edu/research/student_research/Risser_Encouraging%20Disarmam.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹²⁶ Sami Faltas and Wolf-Christian Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," *ISN Publishing House* (Summer 2003): 3, <u>http://www.isn.ethz.ch/pubs/ph/details.cfm?lng=en&id=13706</u> (accessed February 4, 2008); CNN World News, "Albania's Government Resigns After Clashes Become Deadly," 1 March 1997, <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9703/01/albania.resigns.update/index.html</u> (accessed February 4, 2008); CNN World News, "Albania Leader Berisha Resigns," July 23, 1997, <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9707/23/albania/</u> (accessed February 15, 2008).

¹²⁷ Paul Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 6.

instability to an already explosive region."¹²⁸ In short, the disarmament of Albania was important for national and regional stability.

C. DISARMAMENT IMPLEMENTED

The disarmament of Albania was not going to be an easy task. Many people believed the weapons they looted were compensation for their lost investments.¹²⁹ The impact of the riots created "much fear and a lack of confidence in the police, which led some people to hold on to weapons in hope of being able to protect themselves."¹³⁰ The disarmament process would also have to combat the culture of Kanun which gives everyone over the age of 18 the right to own a weapon.¹³¹ The international community and the Albanian government had to restore order and disarm its citizens while combating an economic crisis, inadequate security, and a culture of gun ownership. Disarmament was going to be difficult.

In their attempt to recover the stolen weapons, "the government declared amnesty for anyone who returned the looted weapons."¹³² The amnesty program began in August 1997 and ended in August 2002; it involved police officers visiting homes and forcing individuals to either hand their weapons over "or sign a declaration stating they did not possess any unregistered weapons."¹³³ The program did not go well. Only 75,548 weapons were collected, a far cry from the 550,000 estimated to have been stolen.¹³⁴

For a number of reasons, the government's use of force and the promise of no punishment failed to convince people to disarm. First, the government had effective control only over the capital, Tirana. Second, citizens expected to be compensated for the

¹²⁸ Dieter Kastrup, "Practical Disarmament: A Year-Old 'Group of Interested States' Takes Stock of Successes and Plans for New Projects," *United Nations Chronicle* 1 (1999), Online Edition, UN Department of Information, <u>http://www.un.org/Pubs/chronicle/1999/issue1/0199p76.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹²⁹ Paul Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 6.

¹³⁰ Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 4.

¹³¹ Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 11.

¹³² Ibid.

¹³³ Risser, "Encouraging Disarmament: The use of Individual," 14.

¹³⁴ David B. Kopel, Paul Gallant, and Joanne D. Eisen, "Micro-Disarmament: The Consequences for Public Safety and Human Rights," *UMCK Law Review* 73, no.4 (2005): 19, <u>http://www.davekopel.org/2A/Foreign/MicroDisarmament.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

stolen weapons and the government refused to pay for stolen property.¹³⁵ Third, the long tradition of Kanun discouraged participation in the program.¹³⁶ Finally, people did not believe the government could protect them.¹³⁷ A police presence was absent in many parts of the country. People needed their weapons for protection. The Albanian government soon realized that they could not disarm their citizens on their own. In February 1998 they requested the help of the United Nations.¹³⁸

1. Gramsh Pilot Program (GPP)

Although the Albanian government had initially refused to pay for stolen weapons, it now changed course and requested the UN's help in establishing a buy-back program. The UN denied the government's request because such a scheme would be too expensive, could inflate the price of arms, and might encourage trafficking in the region.¹³⁹ Another suggestion was to create a paramilitary force that would carry out house-to-house searches and confiscation. This too was rejected because the local police were already conducting house-to-house searches without much success. When Jayantha Dhanapala, UN Under-Secretary-General for Disarmament Affairs (1998–2003) led a fact-finding mission in Albania in mid-June 1998 to decide on a disarmament program, he suggested that a community-based approach would be more appropriate for Albania.¹⁴⁰ Rather than rewarding individuals for turning in stolen weapons, the community as a whole should be rewarded for weapons surrendered.¹⁴¹

Since this was a new and experimental approach, the UN decided to employ it in only one of Albania's 36 districts. The district of Gramsh was chosen because it was

¹³⁵ Smith, "Illegal Arms in Albania and European Security," 15–16.

¹³⁶ Sami Faltas, "Weapons Collection Programmes: Questions to Answer and Challenge to Face," Conference on Possible Alternatives and Ways for the Collection of Arms in Albania, Tirana: Albanian Atlantic Association, 24–25 October 1998, International Action Network on Small Arms (IANSA), <u>http://www.iansa.org/documents/2003/weapons_collections.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008); International Action Network on Small Arms (IANSA), 1999–2004, <u>http://www.iansa.org/regions/europe/albania.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹³⁷ Smith, "Illegal Arms in Albania and European Security," 15–16.

¹³⁸ Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 110.

¹³⁹ Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 4.

¹⁴⁰ Kopel, Gallant, and Eisen, "Micro-Disarmament: The Consequences," 19.

¹⁴¹ Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 110.

believed to be saturated with weapons. Gramsh had four military depots and a weapons factory, and observers believed 10,000 weapons could be collected in the district. Gramsh was also identified as the community most in need of security improvements and community developmental projects. The district had a total population of 56,000; it was divided into one municipality (where 40 percent of the population was located), with nine communes, and 91 villages.¹⁴²

The basic concept of the program was to have turn-in sites established at the targeted commune. Citizens did not have to fear being penalized for forfeiting looted weapons since the amnesty was still in effect. While weapons were being turned in, there would be a community meeting to discuss and determine the developmental projects the community most needed and the type of projects the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) could afford. After a destruction ceremony, developmental projects would commence.¹⁴³ The Gramsh Pilot Program (GPP) officially started in December 1998, was fully operational by January 1999, and ended in August of the same year.¹⁴⁴

In 2003, Faltas and Paes, after conducting an analysis of the Albanian situation, concluded that a good part of the 550,000 weapons looted in 1997 were no longer in the hands of the populace. They had been exported, surrendered in the UNDP programs, or confiscated in efforts led by the Albanian police.¹⁴⁵ The number of murders also fell, from a high of 1,542 in 1997 to 119 in 2004. And homicide per-capita rates have returned to pre-riot levels of just under six per capita in 2007 from a high in 1997 of forty-six per capita.¹⁴⁶ The Gramsh project significantly enhanced economic and social development as well as strengthened the rule of law. "Most strikingly it inspired in the local

¹⁴² International Action Network on Small Arms, "Weapons for Development," International Action Network on Small Arms (IANSA) September 4, 1998: 2,

http://www.iansa.org/documents/development/weapons_for_dev.htm (accessed February 4, 2008). 143 Ibid., 8.

¹⁴⁴ Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 110.

¹⁴⁵ Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 4-5.

¹⁴⁶ Holtom et al., "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania," 19; "List of Countries by Homicide Rates," Wikipedia,

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List of countries by homicide_rate (accessed February 4, 2008).

communities a sense of purpose, cooperation, and confidence that continues to benefit them well beyond the end of the project."¹⁴⁷

D. EXPLAINING THE SUCCESS

The five factors Spear identifies as being critical to DDR success are not as useful in accounting for success in the Albanian situation as they were in explaining Haiti's failures. Unlike the two previous case studies where implementers' insufficient address of the five factors resulted in failure, the Albanian case is a success. Although implementers in Albania did not have a peace agreement – with warring parties agreeing to the political terms and the new balance of power and a verification process to prevent cheating – they were still successful. But, two of the five factors were addressed by implementers: the implementation environment and coordination with other agencies.

Spear argues that, for DDR to be a success the implementation environment must have the support of the local government and the implementers must be willing to provide services the state would normally provide, such as security and welfare. The UN Development Programme had local government support. The national government invited the UNDP in and supported the operation. But it was unable to provide security and welfare programs.

The second applicable Spear factor, coordination with other agencies, means that for DDR to be a success implementers and other agencies must work together. The UN Development Programme was designated as the agency in charge of the operation and coordinated the efforts of various international and local agencies. It was able to ensure that all efforts were synchronized and coordinated to achieve the desired results. Unlike the National Commission for DDR program in Haiti, the UN Development Programme in Albania was able to secure funds to accomplish developmental projects and dictate to other agencies where and when their expertise and funds would be needed to accomplish

¹⁴⁷ Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 2, 4.

their goals. Having one agency in command of the operational space ensured the program was being executed efficiently and effectively.¹⁴⁸

Implementers were able to address only two of the five factors but still managed to have a successful program without a peace agreement. Albania's success can also be explained by the following factors: (1) all stakeholders agreed to the terms of the DDR package developed; (2) the disarmament program addressed grievances and root causes; and (3) the community was engaged and involved throughout the entire disarmament process.

All levels of leadership reached an agreement on the DDR process and coordination was done prior to implementation. Unlike Haiti between 1994 and 1997, where the absence of an agreement between the United States and President Aristide resulted in military members taking their weapons home, the UN Development Programme in Albania was coordinated with all levels of government prior to implementing a disarmament program ensuring all stakeholders were involved in the process. After Under-Secretary-General Dhanapala decided on the most appropriate approach to accomplish disarmament, he sent a team in mid-August 1998 to determine the feasibility of a community-based program. The team spoke with national, district, community, and village leaders and individual citizens to determine where and how the program should be implemented. The team was able to arrive at a consensus based on the input of the stakeholders at all levels that a community-based approach would be successful in Albania.

The team also determined that insufficient security and poor economic conditions were the two main reasons why the population was reluctant to turn in their looted firearms. The disarmament program would not be successful unless these two issues were addressed.¹⁴⁹ "The civil population has no incentive to turn in their weapons if they see the police cannot guarantee their security."¹⁵⁰ Therefore, enhancing the local police

¹⁴⁸ Sami Faltas, Glenn McDonald, and Camilla Waszink, "Removing Small Arms from Society: A Review of Weapons Collection and Destruction Programmes," *Small Arms Survey*, July 2001: 18, <u>http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/files/sas/publications/o papers pdf/2001-op02-weapons collection.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹⁴⁹ International Action Network on Small Arms, "Weapons for Development," 1–2.

¹⁵⁰ International Action Network on Small Arms, "Weapons for Development," 2.

capabilities became priority number one for the UNDP. To increase the capabilities of the indigenous security apparatus a new police station was built in Gramsh. The police were also equipped with the following basic equipment they had lacked: cars and communication and transportable forensic equipment. Roads were also built to connect villages with the municipality and to increase security by giving the police access to once inaccessible areas.¹⁵¹ Improvement in the local police capabilities resulted in an increase in security. Crime dropped significantly and the police were visibly active in providing security. Members of the district no longer needed a hand gun for protection.¹⁵²

The second root cause was poor economic conditions. To improve the economic conditions of the targeted area the UNDP invested in labor intensive jobs that would employ as many people as possible. They undertook projects such as road construction to connect the communes and villages to the municipality; improved street lights to benefit security and encourage entrepreneurship; built a new post office, and installed telephone services that were greatly appreciated by the citizens of Gramsh. The services and employment created by the projects in Gramsh were seen by many as compensation.¹⁵³

Community support and involvement were also essential to the successful DDR in Albania. The UNDP was able to get and keep the support of the communities by involving the community in the development and implementation of the program. During the developmental stages of the program the team sent by the Under-Secretary included the community's input to create the disarmament program. When the UNDP arrived at the targeted community to implement the program a community meeting was held. The meeting was open to everyone. Members of the community, not the UNDP, decided on

¹⁵¹ International Action Network on Small Arms, "Weapons for Development," 2; United Nations Development Progamme, "Albania: Weapons in Exchange for Development," United Nations Development Progamme (2001): 1–6, <u>http://www.al.undp.org/projects/completed/wfd_update.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

¹⁵² Kopel et al., "Micro-Disarmament: The Consequences," 20.

¹⁵³ International Action Network on Small Arms, "Albania: Weapons in Exchange for Development," 3–4.

the projects they wanted in exchange for their weapons. The community benefited when it was able to convince its members to surrender illegally obtained firearms and ammunitions.¹⁵⁴

Pressure on individuals within a community to disarm did not come just from their neighbors. Support and pressure for disarmament was not sought just from the citizens of Gramsh. The media was also used at various levels to garner support. The European Union and regional, national, and local presses were used to inform the people in the region what was happening in Gramsh. The media blitz resulted in support from all levels and, eventually, Academy Award–winner Michael Douglas visited Albania to encourage disarmament. His visit demonstrated that the whole world was watching Gramsh hoping they would disarm.¹⁵⁵

The UNDP was successful in Albania because it planned and coordinated with the local government and people, addressed root causes, and engaged and involved the community throughout the disarmament process. Although it only collected about 6,000 of the 10,000 weapons they expected to find in Gramsh, the program was still considered a success. The district experienced improved economic and security conditions with a significant drop in crime. The experience in Gramsh led to similar programs being implemented nationally and achieving similar success.

Despite the success Albania experienced, however, implementers failed to address border security. The in-and-out flow of arms in the targeted area must be controlled. Unlike Haiti, where the problems of arms are largely isolated with only indirect global implications, the Albanian situation could directly destabilize the entire region and cause worldwide instability. The problems associated with arms control should be isolated to a specific location to prevent the situation from getting worse or arms being sent to unstable parts of the region. Failure to adequately seal off Albania's border did not result in more arms entering Albania, but weapons were trafficked to Kosovo and Macedonia to support ethnic Albanians in conflict. It is estimated that 150,000 of the weapons stolen in 1997 were trafficked out of Albania during the Kosovo crisis and the unrest in

¹⁵⁴ International Action Network on Small Arms, "Weapons for Development," 2–3; Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 2.

¹⁵⁵ Faltas and Paes, "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door," 4.

Macedonia.¹⁵⁶ Additional arms in an already unstable situation could have destabilized the entire region which could have made disarmament in Albania a minor issue for the international community. It is imperative that the borders are secured.

E. CONCLUSION

This chapter has demonstrated that coercive disarmament can be successful and that coercion is not limited to physical force. The UN Development Programme was able to use community and peer pressure to force the members of communities within Gramsh to disarm. Peer pressure came mainly from within the communities with additional pressure from neighboring districts, the region, and the international community. This was proven to be far more effective than police going from door to door. However, for the power of peer pressure to be effective grievances and root causes that led people to arm themselves must be addressed. Albanians were also willing to disarm once they were convinced that the security and economic conditions were improved. Lessons should be learned from the Albanian experience and applied in other post-conflict environments, particularly Haiti, to increase the likelihood of DDR being a success. Finally, DDR must be designed to address the special challenges of each situation.

This raises the question of the extent to which lessons from the Albanian case can be applied to Haiti. Unlike in the Haitian case, implementers in Albania were targeting peaceful people who armed themselves during a crisis. The target group did not engage in criminal and/or gang activities. They did not prey upon or terrorize the communities with violence. In fact, the arming of the Albanian population was supported by the local communities. Many viewed the arms as compensation for lost investment and as a way to protect themselves from rioters. People arming themselves were viewed as justified.

To get the communities to disarm, implementers had to convince the communities that the crisis was over, they would be safe, and they would be compensated with jobs and developmental projects. In Haiti, implementers would have to convince the communities of the same things, plus accepting into their communities murderers, rapists,

¹⁵⁶ Kopel et al., "Micro-Disarmament: The Consequences," 23.

and thieves. That is not an easy task; however, it is still possible, especially for the majority of gang members guilty of lesser crimes. This point will be taken up in additional detail in the next chapter.

Unlike Haiti, the Albanian situation did not call for demobilization and reintegration. Since the mob that raided the armories was not organized by a leadership, there was no chain-of-command to sever by conducting demobilization. The country had not been through a protracted conflict where armed individuals were separated from their communities for an extended period and needed to be reinserted and reintegrated into their communities. The operation in Albania was simply disarmament of the population without an agreement after a brief crisis.

Despite the differences between the Haitian and Albanian cases the disarmament lessons learned from the Albanian case study are relevant to Haiti's situation. Haiti must disarm gangs that lack a strict command structure and therefore is forced to take an individual approach. Most DDR experiences focus on disarming combatants as a group. Albania is one of the few cases that demonstrate how to effectively disarm individuals and incorporate the communities into the process. The rare insights that the Albanian case offers coupled with other traditional measures in DDR could solve the problem of disarming the gangs in Haiti.

V. CONCLUSION

The three case studies in this thesis offer insights into how to improve the probability of success when implementing a coercive DDR program that targets armed groups other than former combatants. The first case study, DDR in Haiti 1994–2004, demonstrates how coercive DDR can make short-term progress, but fails to have sustainable long-term success if reintegration, especially of mid-level commanders, is neglected. The second case study, DDR in Haiti 2004–2007, demonstrates: (1) how much easier it is to negotiate a settlement with combatants, who have a regimented command structure and specific demands, than with loosely organized armed groups engaged in crime; (2) how security, one of the root causes of armament, can be improved, yet disarmament fail; and (3) that without economic development disarmament is unlikely. The third case study, Disarmament in Albania 1997–1999, showed that contrary to popular belief, coercive disarmament can be successful and sustained in the long-term when the terms of disarmament are acceptable to the targeted individuals, when root causes are addressed, and when the community is involved.

This final chapter will present six lessons-learned from the case studies and will make recommendations for policy-makers to consider when implementing a coercive DDR program, in the absence of a peace agreement, that targets armed groups other than former combatants.

A. SIX LESSONS-LEARNED AND RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Lesson # 1

The first lesson-learned is that, in a post-conflict situation absent a peace agreement, there must be an agreement and close coordination between the DDR program implementers, the host nation government, and any other major stakeholders. The importance of these factors was demonstrated when President Aristide decided to disband the Haitian military without informing the United States, the DDR implementer. The military was demobilized before the United States could disarm the soldiers, and thus many were able to simply take their weapons home. After their demobilization, it was a month before the U.S. disarmament program was launched, which made it impossible for implementers to disarm all soldiers and secure all the weapon caches. In addition, a lack of support from and coordination with the Haitian government meant that the local communities did not support the DDR program. The government distanced itself from the program and did not inform the public about its benefits. Instead, the former soldiers were stigmatized and, unable to secure a legitimate means of income, they joined the 2004 rebellion against the state.

However, in the two cases studied here, where there was an agreement with the host nations' government, the success of a coercive DDR program was much more likely. In the second Haitian case, the UN Stabilization Mission (MINUSTAH), working with the Haitian government either in the lead or in a supportive role, succeeded both in eliminating the threat posed by former soldiers and improved Haiti's security conditions. In Albania, also, the DDR implementers worked with government leaders all the way down to the community level and were able to achieve success in coercive disarmament despite the lack of a peace agreement. From those successes, we derived one essential lesson-learned. The international community must recognize that in a post-conflict situation, when there is no peace agreement between the warring parties, DDR implementers themselves can and should make an agreement with the national government and all the other stakeholders that clearly outlines the DDR process.

Achieving an agreement with stakeholders – particularly groups or individuals that are targeted for demobilization – in the absence of a peace treaty is difficult, but not impossible. Sometimes, one party can decide unilaterally the acceptable terms for the DDR program implementation, which can then be accepted post hoc by the groups and individuals targeted for demobilization. The short-term success of the first Haitian DDR program shows the potential for success of this tactic, which was not necessarily cancelled out by the program's eventual failure. If the former military members had been offered some type of economic opportunity, for example, jobs in the public sector, it is unlikely that they would have engaged in an attack against the state.

In general, agreements with combatant groups are easier to reach and enforce than with loosely organized criminals. After years of fighting, combatant groups usually develop a well-regulated line of command in which members are expected to strictly adhere to their leaders' decisions. This was demonstrated in the second Haitian case study when the interim government was able to successfully negotiate an agreement to disarm with the leaders of the former soldiers. Once an agreement was made, they were no longer a threat to the Haitian state. In contrast, when President Preval tried to negotiate an agreement with splinter gangs under various leaders, he was unsuccessful. There was no one leader representing the gangs collectively for him to negotiate with in seeking total gang disarmament. Each gang feared that the others would not disarm and thus jeopardize their safety.

2. Lesson # 2

The DDR implementers in Albania faced a somewhat similar problem: disarming individuals, but in this case, with no group ties. They were simply civilians who had spontaneously armed themselves during a time of national crisis, and thus there was no leader with whom the implementers could negotiate. Instead, they had to appeal to the local communities as a whole to force their citizens to disarm. In this case, therefore, implementers of DDR gave compensation for turning in looted weapons to the whole community, not individuals. They also offered the communities developmental projects that benefited everyone. Obviously, it was in the community's interest to persuade their members to disarm; that's what made this approach so successful, much more successful than having police go door-to-door disarming civilians. In sum, the second lesson-learned from the case studies is this: when the target of a disarmament project is individual citizens in a post-crisis environment, it is essential that community leaders at every level be involved in the development and implementation of the program.

One argument that could be made against the community-based approach is that it would be ineffective against groups guilty of committing violent crimes against members of the community. The Albanian situation was unique in that the targeted group was otherwise peaceful civilians who had armed themselves during a crisis. It was probably comparatively easy for community members both to convince their armed neighbors to disarm and to then accept them back into the community. But would the same approach be as effective if the targeted groups were violent gangs known for committing numerous kidnappings, rapes, and murders?

Recent experiences show that the community-based approach has worked in several post-conflict environments in which the targeted groups had terrorized their communities for years. Since such combatants are not isolated outside groups, but actually part of the community, it is critical that the communities be consulted and engage in the DDR process. Community–combatant relations usually combine both solidarity and coercion, giving the local people leverage in dealing with the targeted group. In some cases, the DDR implementers have successfully tapped into the power of the community as it relates to the disarmament and reintegration program. In Sierra Leone, for instance, after more than a decade of bloody conflict, the implementers of the DDR program there have experienced success through the implementation also of a Community Arms Collection and Destruction (CACD) process. In other post-conflict environments such as Papua New Guinea, the Solomon Islands, and Congo Brazzaville, implementers have experienced success by using a community-based approach in conjunction with other DDR measures against violent groups.¹⁵⁷

In these successful cases, combatants were, and were treated as, part of the community. Some of those combatant groups were initially militias formed to protect their communities. In other cases, the combatants were viewed simply as other victims because they had been forced to take up arms against their fellow citizens by vicious warlords. All these cases show clearly that communities are very willing to use their coercive power to get citizens combatants to disarm so they can then welcome them back into the community.¹⁵⁸

¹⁵⁷ Pouligny, "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary," 11-12, 24-26; United Nations Development Programme, "Arms for Development, UNDP Sierra Leone: End of year 2007 Progress Report," February 2008: 1-8; Ryan Nichols, "Sierra Leone," *Small Arms Survey*, February 2006: 1-27, <u>http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/sa_control/BCPRStra-SIERRA_LEONE.doc</u> (accessed March 8, 2008).

¹⁵⁸ Pouligny, "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary," 11-18; Amos Sawyer, "Social Capital, Survival Strategies, and Their Potential for Post-conflict Governance in Liberia," *World Institute for Development Economic Researchs Research (WIDER)*, April 2005: 1-13, <u>http://www.wider.unu.edu/publications/working-papers/research-papers/2005/en_GB/rp2005-15/</u> (accessed March 8, 2008).

That was not how it was in Haiti however; it had a much different set of circumstances. Haitian communities were, and still are, terrorized by what can best be described as human predators. The gangs were not victims of an unfortunate situation; they were criminals who took advantage of the poor social conditions. They saw the inadequate security and poor economic conditions as opportunities to prey on the communities for personal gain and group profits. That reality raises a number of questions for the study of coercive DDR programs. Do local communities have any coercive power over gangs operating in their neighborhoods? If a disarmament and reintegration program is implemented, will the communities be willing to take back these criminal gang members? Can the communities be of any help in disarming gang members? These are the kinds of questions that must be answered before implementers can use community assistance in implementing DDR programs in environments like Haiti's.

Our research found that in a number of typical post-conflict environments, use of a community-based approach proved effective against both individuals within violent groups and the groups themselves that lack a hierarchical command structure. Thus, the international community should not underestimate the power that local communities have to force individuals and groups to disarm. Their capabilities are a force multiplier that DDR implementers should exploit whenever possible.

That said, Haiti is not a good example: the situation there is not a typical postconflict environment. Before the power of Haitian communities can be used effectively in disarming violent, noncombatant groups, further research is necessary to determine exactly what the communities' role should be.

One option worth considering is how inner-city law enforcement officials employ communities to dispel gang violence. In Boston, for example, city officials were able to reach a consensus with the local communities in implementing a program that facilitated truces between gangs to combat gang violence. More important, community leaders supported and accepted all the terms of the plan. To ensure that that public support was maintained, some truces were publicized, demonstrating not only the success of the program but also its benefits to the community. The program also benefited the gang members, who were given a forum that they could use to settle disputes without resorting to violence.¹⁵⁹ Though the program was not implemented in a post-conflict environment, the techniques are worth examining in terms of their possible applicability in Haiti.

3. Lesson # 3

A third major lesson learned from the thesis case studies is that long-term success can be achieved only if the root causes of the conflict or to arm oneself are addressed, especially in post-conflict environments without a peace treaty. Many scholars argue that for a peace treaty to be successful it must address the root causes and grievances that caused the armed conflict.¹⁶⁰ This means that when there is no peace treaty the root causes of the conflict often remain unaddressed. However, if a DDR package is to be acceptable to the targeted group, the implementers must first be aware of root causes and must see that the plan developed addresses them.

In our three case studies, the root causes of the groups' armament were a lack of adequate security and limited economic opportunities. In the failed attempts at DDR in Haiti, the root causes were insufficiently addressed and thus the terms of the DDR program were unacceptable. In Albania, the root causes of the crisis were adequately addressed and the terms of disarmament were acceptable to the local communities. Subsequently, therefore, they contributed to Albania's success. The first root cause was inadequate security can only be achieved by empowering indigenous forces to provide the kind of security that deters armed rebellion against the state and protects the population from crime and violence. The DDR plan in Albania recognized the lack of adequate security in the implementation environment and took a "security-first" attitude. The local

¹⁵⁹ Anthony A. Braga and Jeffrey L. Brown, "Negotiating Gang Peace," *The Boston Globe*, March 31, 2007, http://www.boston.com/news/globe/editorial_opinion/oped/articles/2007/03/31/negotiatin

<u>g_gang_peace</u> (accessed March 17, 2008).

¹⁶⁰ Donald Rothchild, "Settlement Terms and Postagreements Stability," In *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*, eds. Stephen John Stedman, Donald Rothchild and Elizabeth M. Cousens, (Boulder and London: Lynnne Rienner Publishers, 2002): 134.

police were empowered to provide adequate security, which showed community members that the state could protect them; they had no need to arm themselves for protection.

In the Haitian cases, once the international forces departed and the national police force proved too weak to stop armed gangs, groups of ex-soldiers gathered together to launch an attack on the state. In Haiti, in the absence of security, gang violence and a gang culture have flourished, threatening the safety of its populace. Recently, the security situation in Haiti has improved significantly, as the police capabilities and size have increased. But this has not resulted in individuals disarming. So it seems that improving security for DDR implementers and the general public does not necessarily lead to the target groups disarming. Although the UN Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) and the Haitian National Police have improved the security environment for both implementers and the general population, they have failed to get gang members to disarm or to seek legitimate ways of making a living. In theory, implementing security should also have discouraged gang membership by diverting them with aggressive direct actions and at the same time convincing gang members that when they do decide to disarm they will be safe. It is highly unlikely that gang members will disarm if they believe they will then become victims of gang violence. Just as the regular public needs protection, so too do gang members that disarm. Apparently, ensuring the safety of both the general public and DDR implementers is simply not enough. Security is a root cause that must be addressed but how to improve security against criminal gangs in a post-conflict environment is a question that requires further research.

Another reason that DDR programs have failed in Haiti is the lack of livelihood guarantees. The economic development packages and job-creating projects promised to Haitian communities were never delivered. There are no jobs. This makes it difficult to convince gangsters that they do not need weapons as an income provider. But will job creation be enough to convince criminals to disarm? The gangs are already engaged in some type of economic enterprise. Therefore, a significant amount of research is needed to determine what type of economic packages will be effective in persuading gangs to disarm and whether they are feasible.

The conclusion here is that when implementing DDR in environments without a peace agreement, the international community must be aware that the root causes of groups' armament have probably not been addressed. And any DDR program implemented must address those causes. Furthermore, for the program to be successful, its terms must be acceptable to the targeted group in both the short- and the long-run. But as the case study Haiti 2004–2007 clearly demonstrates, addressing the root causes is simply not enough. The type of security and economic packages implemented must be designed to be effective against the target. In Haiti, the criminal gangs are not responding to an improved security environment as would have been the case in a typical DDR setting. This means that much more research is needed to determine the type of security and economic packages that will be effective against criminals who at present are providing for their own security and economic well-being.

4. Lesson # 4

In the case studies Haiti 1994–2004 and Albania 1997–1999, and in most other post-conflict environments, DDR is implemented as a countermeasure to prevent former combatants from posing a threat to the state and the population. If the DDR programs fail then the state and the population will be at risk.¹⁶¹ But the present situation in Haiti is different from the typical post-conflict environment and thus the fourth lesson-learned. Implementers in the second Haitian case had to target gangs that were already posing a threat to the population by engaging in violent crimes for profit. The DDR programs in places like Haiti and other post-conflict environments, where violent groups that are not necessarily former combatants already pose a threat to the state and the population, must be reactive, not preventive. Unlike the programs that attempt to deter former combatants from posing a threat, the DDR implemented must be able to convince violent gangs into discontinuing their profitable, illegal, and violent activities.

¹⁶¹ Spear, Disarmament and Demobilization, 141; Hitchcock, "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration," 36; Robert Muggah, "Emerging From the Shadows of was: A Critical Perspective on DDR and Weapons Reduction in the Post-conflict Period," *Contemporary Security Policy*, 27, no. 1 (April 2006): 190.

5. Lesson # 5

Kazuhide Kurado of the World Bank claims that DDR programs in a country cannot be accomplished by any one agency alone, a claim that was validated by the failure of the DDR program in Haiti between 1994 and 1997. The U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) implemented DDR unilaterally. It might have sought help from other groups such as economic agencies to secure jobs for former soldiers upon graduation of vocational training. In the second Haitian case study, the National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration (NCDDR) was created to coordinate and synchronize the efforts of various agencies. But it lacked the ability to compel the agencies to act and secure funds to accomplish promised projects, and thus was unable to coordinate and synchronize the agencies' efforts. These failures resulted in developmental projects not being delivered and efforts being uncoordinated.

In comparison, the DDR experience in Albania was a more coordinated and synchronized effort. This is credited to the fact that the UN Development Programme was in charge of the operational space and was able to secure funds and compel other agencies to deliver on developmental aid. This coordinated and synchronized effort significantly helped in the overall success in Albania. Before implementation, the international community needs to establish the agency that will be in charge of the overall DDR operation and its designated agency needs to be empowered to secure funds to accomplish projects undertaken and get other agencies to deliver on aid packages promised.

6. Lesson # 6

Finally, disarmament means little if porous borders provide a means for individuals or groups to rearm. All three cases reviewed here failed to devote attention to border security and instability was the result. In the first Haitian case, both the United States and the UN acknowledged that the border with the Dominican Republic was a source of weapons but were unable to secure the border because it was not in their mandates to do so. In the second Haitian case, UN Stabilization Mission, aware that the border with the Dominican Republic and the sea ports are sources of weapons, now (2008) plans to do a better job in securing these areas. In Albania, the lack of border security helped fuel instability in both Kosovo and Macedonia. The international community should never deploy forces and implement DDR without border security as a priority in their mandate. The problem of arms control should be isolated to the targeted area and denied the ability to influence instability in other areas.

In sum, the six lessons-learned were: (1) an agreement on DDR between implementers and host-nation governments and/or stakeholders improves the chances of success in the absence of a peace treaty, and an attempt must be made to make the terms of DDR acceptable to the targeted group, especially when DDR is being implemented unilaterally; (2) local community support is absolutely necessary, especially when the program has to target individuals and noncombatants without a hierarchical command structure, but further research is needed to determine how to effectively employ communities in the disarmament of criminal gangs and gang elements; (3) the root causes must be addressed, but research is needed to determine what kind of security and economic packages will be effective against criminals that are providing for their own security and guaranteeing their livelihood through illegal means; (4) DDR implementation in environments similar to Haiti's will not be to prevent former combatants from posing either a macro- or a micro-threat, Instead, DDR will more than likely be reactionary to stop existing criminal elements from posing macro- and/or microinsecurities; (5) to achieve coordinated and synchronized efforts, one agency should be empowered to compel other agencies to fulfill their roles in the DDR process and be given the ability to secure funds; and (6) borders should be protected to prevent erosion of the gains from disarmament. These lessons may not only improve the likelihood that coercive DDR programs will succeed success, but also may contribute to improving the five factors introduced by Spear.

This thesis has argued that coercive DDR can be successful. Haiti was successful in eliminating the macro-insecurities posed by former soldiers in the short-term. Although most Haitian military members opposed demobilization, they did not actively resist. Soldiers were engaged in job training and other programs to assist them in reintegrating back into society. Unfortunately, that progress was unsustainable. Mid-level commanders were excluded from the DDR process, and many former soldiers found the terms of the package unacceptable. They were marginalized economically. Eventually, unemployed soldiers were recruited by their former commanders to launch an attack against the state.

In Haiti during this period, the DDR package, which was developed unilaterally, did not adequately address the concerns of the former soldiers. If it had, the program may have been more successful in the long run. In Albania, the coercive DDR approach was successful because the Albanian government and the DDR implementers agreed about the DDR process, and the local communities accepted the program and were involved throughout its duration. In sum, coercive DDR can be successful both in eliminating a threat to the state posed by ex-combatants and in disarming individual fighters. At this time, it is less clear whether coercive DDR that targets violent criminal groups can be successful in eliminating micro-insecurities

Today, the issue of micro-insecurities is particularly important; not only in postconflict situations where there is no peace treaty but also in cases where there is a peace agreement but the DDR program implemented has failed and criminal groups now threaten the citizenry's security. Such situations are becoming increasingly common. But scholars and practitioners have been slow to realize that DDR programs will not always be implemented in situations where hostilities were ended with a peace treaty. They also continue to view disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration as a preventive measure and not as a reactionary measure that is implemented in environments that are saturated with weapons and crime.

Evidence from the Albanian situation and case and other community-based DDR programs suggests that communities may be the key to disarming violent criminal groups. And community-based DDR is especially likely to be successful when the target groups are viewed as victims of the situation. But before a community can be effectively employed in the DDR process, the implementers must first determine two things: how the communities view the violent criminal groups and whether they have any leverage they can use to influence them. If they have some leverage, then the implementers must determine how the state can help increase that leverage power. To gain and maintain the community's support for the DDR program, implementers must also use the media and other mechanisms to inform the public and gang members of the benefits of the DDR program to both groups.

We believe that DDR programs are critical to the success of post-conflict reconstruction projects, and great strides have been made in eliminating the macroinsecurities in these situations. However, micro-insecurities are still obstacles that interfere with the successful implementation of both cooperative and coercive approaches to DDR and thus hinder the establishment of a sustainable peace, security, and stability. Much more research is needed when implementing these programs if we are to prevent or reduce the impact micro-insecurities have on the peace process.

LIST OF REFERENCES

Actionaid International. "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration: What Role Should the EU Play in Haiti? Recommendation?" Actionaid International, October 2006. <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/library/documents/2006/actionaid-hti-03oct.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

 —. "MINUSTAH: DDR and Police, Judicial, and Correctional Reform in Haiti." *Actionaid International*, July 2006: 1–24. <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/library/documents/2006/actionaid-hti-13jul.pdf</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).

- Alusala, Nelson. "DRC: On the Road to Disarmament." *Institute of Security Studies*, February 2004: 56–73. <u>http://www.iss.co.za/pubs/Monographs/No98/Chap4.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008).
- Arms Control Today. "Political Fracas Stalls Senate's Iraq Investigation." Arms Control Today 33, no. 10 (December 2003): 44.

 Bailey, Michael, Robert Maguire, and J.G. O'Neil, "Haiti: Military-Police Partnership For Public Security." In *Policing the New World Disorder: Peace Operations and Public Security*, edited by Robert Oakley and Dziedzic M. Goldberg, Washington D.C.: National Defense University Press, 1988.
 <u>http://www.ndu.edu/inss/books/Books%20%201998/Policing%20the%20New%2</u> <u>0World%20Disorder%20-%20May%2098/chapter7.html</u> (accessed September 19, 2007).

- Ball, Nicole, and Dylan Hendrickson. "Review of International Financing Arrangements for Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration." SIDDR, September 26, 2005: 171. <u>http://www.sweden.gov.se/content/1/c6/06/54/02/ee028ddc.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Baryani, Stephen. "What Kind of Peace Is Possible in the Post–9/11 Era? National Agencies, Transnational Coalitions, and the Challenges of Sustainable Peace." Working Paper (October 2005): 1–32. <u>http://www.nsiins.ca/english/pdf/wkop_lead_paper.pdf</u> (accessed November 13, 2007).
- Beck, Holly. "Putting Security First: Weapons for Development as an Approach to Micro-Disarmament." Undergraduate thesis, 2004: 1–85. <u>http://www.jha.ac/articles/a152.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

- Bernath, Cliff, and Sarah Martin. "Peacekeeping in West Africa: A Regional Report." *Refugees International,* June 2004: 1–36. <u>http://www.refugeesinternational.org/files/2992_file_PK_WestAfrica_Jun04_v2.p</u> <u>df</u> (accessed March 7, 2008).
- Bergman, Jake. "Guns Smuggled From South Florida Arming Haitians." *Sun-Sentinel*, March 6, 2004: 1-3. <u>http://centerforinvestigativereporting.org/articles/gunssmuggledfromsouthfloridaa</u> <u>rminghaitians</u> (accessed February 26, 2008).
- Berdal, Mats. "Disarmament and Demobilization after Civil Wars: Soldiers and the Termination of Armed Conflict." *The International Institute for Strategic Studies*, Adelphi Paper 303, Oxford University Press: August 1996.
- Bonn International Center Conversion. "Stories: Albania." *Bonn International Center Conversion* (2001): 1–2. <u>http://www.bicc.de/helpdesk/stories/albania.html</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Brahimi, Lukhdar. "Sate Building in Crisis and Post-Conflict Countries." *United Nations*, June 2007: 1–20. <u>http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan026305.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008).
- Carey, Henry F. "Militarization Without Civil War: The Security Dilemma and Regime Consolidation in Haiti." *Civil Wars* 7, no. 4 (Winter 2005): 330–356.
- Caribbean Media Corporation. "Gangs Pledge to Disarm but set Conditions." *Haiti* Democracy Project, August 10, 2006. <u>http://www.haitipolicy.org/content/3624.htm?PHPSESSID=f7967446ce89cc44a9</u> <u>e1ecbaf4046e33</u> (accessed January 25, 2007).
- Charles, Jacqueline. "Haiti Makes Strides in Modernizing Police Force." MINUSTAH.ORG (January 15, 2008). <u>http://www.minustah.org/blogs/657/Haiti-makes-strides-in-modernizing-police-force.html</u> (accessed February 14, 2008).
- CNN World News. "Albania's Government Resigns after Clashes Become Deadly." *CNN World News*, March 1, 1997. <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9703/01/albania.resigns.update/index.html</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

———. "Albania Leader Berisha Resigns." CNN World News, July 23, 1997. <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9707/23/albania/</u> (accessed February 15, 2008). -. "Some Albania Rebels Agree to Lay Down Arms." *CNN World News*, March 10, 1997. <u>http://www.cnn.com/WORLD/9703/10/albania.rebels/index.html</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

- Colletta, Nat, J. "Demilitarization, Demobilization, and the Social and Economic Integration of Ex-combatants: Lessons from the World Bank Africa Experience." USAID Conference, October 30–31, 1997: 1–11. <u>http://www.somali-jna.org/downloads/DDR%20colletta%20paper.pdf</u> (accessed October, 19 2007).
- Collier, Paul. "Demobilization and Insecurity: A Study in the Economics of the Transition from War to Peace." *Journal of International Development* 6, no. 3 (1994): 343–351.
- Country of Return Information Project. "Country Sheet: Albania." *Country of Return Information Project* (May 2007): 1–59. <u>http://www.caritas-</u> <u>int.be/fileadmin/pdf/misc/432_1189774266_country-`sheet-albania.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Coyne, Christopher J. "Reconstruction Weak and Failed States: Foreign Intervention and the Nirvana Fallacy." *Foreign Policy Analysis*, 2 (2006): 343–360.
- Crocker, Chester, A. Hampson, and Olser Fen. "Making Peace Settlement Work." *Foreign Policy* 104 (Autumn 1996): 54–71.
- Dhanapala, Jayantha. "Disarmament and Development: Opening Statement." In *The United Nations 1999 Symposium on Disarmament and Development*, edited by Lucy Webster and Kate Cell, 10–14. New York: Economists Allied for Arms Reduction, 1999. <u>http://www.epsusa.org/publications/papers/disarm.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Dorff, Robert H. "Failed States after 9/11: What Did We Know and What We Learned?" *International Studies Perspectives* 6 (2005): 20–34.
- Dworken, Jonathan, Jonathan Moore, and Adam Siegel. "Haiti Demobilization and Reintegration Program." Institute for Public Research, March 1997: 1–68. <u>http://www.jha.ac/articles/a070.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Dzinesa, Gwinyayi, A. "Postconflict Disarmament, Demobilization, Reintegration of Former Combatants in Southern Africa." *International Studies Perspective* 8 (2007): 73–89.
- Elbert, Carlos. "Albania Under the Shadow of the Pyramids." *The World Bank* (2001): 1– 3. <u>http://www.worldbank.org/html/prddr/trans/so97/albania2.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

- Erskine, Emanuel. "Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration in Post-Conflict Situations." In *The United Nations 1999 Symposium on Disarmament and Development*, edited by Lucy Webster and Kate Cell, 10–14. New York, New York: Economists Allied for Arms Reduction, 1999. <u>http://www.epsusa.org/publications/papers/disarm.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Faltas, Sami. "Weapons Collection Programmes: Questions to Answer and Challenge to Face." Conference on Possible Alternatives and Ways for the Collection of Arms in Albania. Tirana: Albanian Atlantic Association, 24–25. October 1998, International Action Network on Small Arms (IANSA). <u>http://www.iansa.org/documents/2003/weapons_collections.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Faltas, Sami, Glenn McDonald, and Camilla Waszink. "Removing Small Arms from Society: A Review of Weapons Collection and Destruction Programmes." Small Arms Survey, July 2001: 1–40. <u>http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/files/sas/publications/o_papers_pdf/2001-op02weapons_collection.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Faltas, Sami, and Wolf-Christian Paes. "You Have Removed the Devil from Our Door." ISN Publishing House (Summer 2003): 1–43. <u>http://www.isn.ethz.ch/pubs/ph/details.cfm?lng=en&id=13706</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Fatton, Robert, Jr. "Haiti: The Saturnalia of Emancipation and the Vicissitudes of Predatory Rule." *Third World Quarterly* 27, no. 1 (February 1, 2006): 115–133.
- Federal News Service. "Roundtable Discussion with Ambassador Edmond Mulet." *Federal News Service*, January 27, 2007: 1–26. <u>http://www.csis.org/media/csis/events/070131_haiti_transcript.pdf</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).
- Fund for Peace. *The Failed State Index 2007*. <u>http://www.fundforpeace.org/web/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&i</u> <u>d=229&Itemid=366</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Garcia, Malcolm, J. "Descent Into Haiti." *The Virginia Quarterly Review* 82, no. 2 (Spring 2006): 181–205.
- Gennip, Jos Van. "Post-conflict Reconstruction and Development." *Development* 48, no. 3 (2005): 57–62.

Gentile, Carmen. "UN Peacekeepers Cracking Down on Violence in Haiti." VOANews.com. September 17, 2007. <u>http://www.voanews.com/english/archive/2007-09/2007-09-17-</u> <u>voa36.cfm?CFID=270518787&CFTOKEN=79821011</u> (accessed February 14, 2008).

- Gros, Jean-Germain. "Haiti's Flagging Transition." *Journal of Democracy* 8, no. 4 (1997): 94–109.
- Hamre, John J., and Gordon R. Sullivan. "Toward Postconflict Reconstruction." *The Washington Quarterly* 24, no. 4 (Autumn 2002): 85–96.
- Harbom, Lotta, Stina Hogbladh, and Peter Wallensteen. "Armed Conflict and Peace Agreements." *Journal of Peace Research* 43, no. 5 (2006): 617–631.
- Harbom, Lotta, and Peter Wallensteen. "Armed Conflict and Its International Dimensions, 1946–2004." *Journal of Peace Research* 42, no. 5 (2005): 623–635.
- Hichcock, Nicky. "Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration: The Case of Angola." *Training for Peace Publications* 1 (2004): 36–40. <u>http://www.trainingforpeace.org/pubs/accord/ct104pg36.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Holtom, Paul, Henry Smith, Bernardo Mariani, Simon Rynn, Larry Attree, and Juliana Sokolova. "Turning the Page: Small Arms and Light Weapons in Albania." ISN Publishing House (December 2005): 1–137.
 <u>http://www.isn.ethz.ch/pubs/ph/details.cfm?lng=en&id=15132</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Humphreys, Macartan, and Jeremy M. Weinstein. "Demobilization and Reintegration." Journal of Conflict Resolution 51, no. 4 (August 2007): 531–567.
- International Action Network on Small Arms. "Albania." *International Action Network on Small Arms*, 1999–2004. <u>http://www.iansa.org/regions/europe/albania.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- . "Weapons for Development." *International Action Network on Small Arms*. September 4, 1998: 1–10.
 <u>http://www.iansa.org/documents/development/weapons_for_dev.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- International Crisis Group. "A New Chance for Haiti." *International Crisis Group* 10. November 18, 2004: 17–20. <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/library/documents/latin_america/10%20A%20New%2</u> <u>OChance%20for%20Haiti.pdf</u>

-. "Consolidating Stability in Haiti," *International Crisis Group* 21 (July 18, 2007): 1–32. <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?id=4944&l=1</u> (accessed September 19, 2007).

—. "Haiti: Justice Reform and the Security Crisis." *International Crisis Group* 14 (January 31, 2007): 1–15.
 <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/library/documents/latin_america/b14_haiti_justice_reform_and_the_security_crisis.pdf</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).

———. "Haiti: Security and the Reintegration of the State." *International Crisis Group* 12. (October 30, 2006): 1–19.
 <u>http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?l=1&id=4475</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

International Peacekeeping. "Documentation: Security Council Resolution 1542 Concerning the Establishment of the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH)." *International Peacekeeping* 11, no. 4 (Winter 2004): 722–726.

——. "Peacekeeping Mission Updates: March–April 2004."*International Peacekeeping* 11, no. 4 (Winter 2004): 709–721.

- International Peace Research Institute. "Towards a More Peaceful World." *International Peace Research Institute* (September 2006). <u>http://www.prio.no/files/file48260_prio_uppsala_eng_press_release_020906.pdf</u> (accessed November 1, 2007).
- Jacobs, Stevenson. "Hostility Grows as U.N. Takes on Haitian Gangs." *Oakland Tribune*. February 11, 2007: 1–3. <u>http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_qn4176/is_20070211/ai_n17224644</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).
- Kastrup, Dieter. "Practical Disarmament: A Year-Old 'Group of Interested States' Takes Stock of Successes and Plans for new Projects." *United Nations Chronicle* 1 (1999). Online Edition. UN Department of Information. <u>http://www.un.org/Pubs/chronicle/1999/issue1/0199p76.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Kingma, Kess. "Demobilization of Combatants after Civil Wars in Africa and Their Reintegration into Civilian Life." *Policy Sciences* 30 (1997): 151–165.
- Klare, Michael. "Small Arms Proliferation and its Impact on Security and Develoment." In *The United Nations 1999 Symposium on Disarmament and Development*, edited by Lucy Webster and Kate Cell, 10-14. New York: Economists Allied for Arms Reduction, 1999. <u>http://www.epsusa.org/publications/papers/disarm.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

- Kolbe, Athena R., and Royce A. Hutson. "Human Rights Abuse and Other Criminal Violations in Port-au-Prince, Haiti: A Random Survey of Households."*Lancet* 368 (September 8, 2006): 864–873.
- Kopel, David, B., Paul Gallant, and Joanne D. Eisen. "Micro-Disarmament: The Consequences for Public Safety and Human Rights." UMCK Law Review, 73, no.4 (2005): 1–45. <u>http://www.davekopel.org/2A/Foreign/MicroDisarmament.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Krasner, Stephen D., and Carlos Pascual. "Addressing Sate Failure." *Foreign Affairs* 84, no. 4 (July/August 2005): 153–163.
- Kuroda, Kazuhide. "Conflict and Development." *The World Bank*. May 26, 2005: 1–6. <u>http://sites.jointokyo.org/challenges/archives/files/08_Conflict_handout.pdf</u> (accessed October, 19 2007).
- Lak, Daniel. "Problem of Haiti's Gun Culture." BBN News, March 11, 2004. http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/americas/3500290.stm (accessed February 24, 2008).
- Lundahl, Mats. "History as an Obstacle to Change: The Case of Haiti." *Journal of International Studies and World Affairs* 31, no. 1/2 (Spring–Summer 1989): 1–21.
- Mariner, Joanne. "Haiti: The Past Is a Prologue." CNN.com, March 3, 2004. <u>http://edition.cnn.com/2004/LAW/03/03/findlaw.analysis.mariner.haiti/index.html</u> (accessed March 14, 2008).
- McNerney, Michael, J. "Stabilization and Reconstruction in Afghanistan: Are PRTs a Model or a Muddle?" *Parameters* (Winter 2005–06): 32–46.
- Mendelson-Forman, Johanna. "Security Sector Reform in Haiti." *International Peacekeeping*, 13, no. 1 (March 2006): 14-27.
- Mitra, Saibal. "Winning the Real War on Terrorism." *The Humanist* 62, no. 1 (January/February 2002): 6.
- Morales-Taft, Maureen. "Haiti: Developments and U.S. Policy Since 1991 and Current Congressional Concerns." CRS Report for Congress, June 21, 2007 (updated), RL32294: 1–42.
- Mowle, Thomas. "Iraq's Militia Problem." Surviva, 48, no. 3 (October 2006): 41-58.
- Muggah, Robert. "Emerging from the Shadows of War: A Critical Perspective on DDR and Weapons Reduction in the Post-conflict Period." *Contemporary Security Policy* 27, no. 1 (April 2006): 190–205.

-. "Great Expectations: (dis)integrated DDR in Sudan and Haiti." *Relief Web*, March 31 2007. <u>http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/RWB.NSF/db900SID/SBOI-</u> 745PQQ?OpenDocument (accessed October 19, 2007).

- Muggah, Robert, and Keith Krause. "A True Measure of Success? The Discourse and Practice of Human Security in Haiti." *The Whitehead Journal of Diplomacy and International Relations* (Winter/Spring 2006): 129–141. <u>http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/files/portal/spotlight/country/amer_pdf/americas</u> <u>-haiti-2006b.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Nichols, Ryan. "Sierra Leone." *Small Arms Survey*. February 2006: 1–27. <u>http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/sa_control/BCPRStra-SIERRA_LEONE.doc</u> (accessed March 8, 2008).
- O'Connor, Neil M. "Buy-Back Programs as an Instrument of Micro-Disarmament: Observation from Haiti, Nicaragua, and the Dominican Republic." *Program for Arms Control, Disarmament, and Conversion, Monterey Institute of International Studies* (1996): 1–21. <u>http://sand.miis.edu/research/1996/jan1996/O'Connor.PDF</u> (accessed December 21, 2007).
- Oppenheimer, Andres. "Growing Security Gives Haitian a Sense of Hope." Miami Herald.com. December 20, 2007: 1–3. <u>http://www.miamiherald.com/news/columnists/andres_oppenheimer/story/351172</u>. <u>html</u> (accessed January 24, 2008).
- Ozerdem, Alpaslan. "Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration of Former Combatants in Afghanistan: Lessons Learned from a Cross-Cultural Perspective." *Third World Quarterly* 23, no. 5 (October 1, 2002): 961–975.
- Packer, George. The Assassin's Gate: America in Iraq. New York, 2005.
- Podur, Justin. "Two-Faced in Haiti." Znet. October 1, 2005. http://www.zmag.org/content/showarticle.cfm?ItemID=8850
- Pouligny, Beatrice. "The Politics and Anti-Politics of Contemporary 'Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration' Programs." Center for International Studies and Research, September 2004, 1–57. <u>http://www.demokratitorget.gov.se/content/1/c6/06/53/96/8ca52a50.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- Risser, Hans. "Encouraging Disarmament: The Use of Individual and Collective Incentives in VWCP." *Monterey Institute on International Studies* (December 2003): 1–22. <u>http://sand.miis.edu/research/student_research/Risser_Encouraging%20Disarmam</u>.<u>pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

- Roig-Franzia, Manuel. "UN Peacekeepers Raid Slum in Haiti." Washington Post Foreign Service, February 10, 2007: A12 <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2007/02/09/AR20070209</u> 00902.html (accessed January 25, 2008).
- Rothchild, Donald. "Settlement Terms and Postagreements Stability." In *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*, edited by Stephen John Stedman, Donald Rothchild, and Elizabeth M. Cousens, 117–138. Boulder and London: Lynnne Rienner Publishers, 2002.
- Ruhunga, Sam. "Military Integration as a Factor for Post-conflict Stability and Reconciliation: Rwanda 1994–2005." Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, 2006.
- Sawyer, Amos. "Social Capital, Survival Strategies, and Their Potential for Post-conflict Governance in Liberia." World Institute for Development Economic Researchs Research. April 2005: 1–13 <u>http://www.wider.unu.edu/publications/working-papers/research-papers/2005/en_GB/rp2005-15/</u> (accessed March 8, 2008).
- Scott, Ben J. "Order in the Court: Judicial Stability and Democratic Success in Haiti." Vanderbilt Journal of Transitional Law (March 2004): 1–36. law.vanderbilt.edu/.../journal-of-transnational-law/archives/volume-37-number-2/download.aspx?id=1920 (accessed December 21, 2007).
- Sedra, Mark. "New Beginning or Return to Arms? The Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration Process in Afghanistan." Bonn International Center for Conversion, June 2003: 1–21. <u>http://www.ag-afghanistan.de/arg/arp/sedra.pdf</u> (accessed March 14, 2008).
- Smith, Chris. "Illegal Arms in Albania and European Security." Palais des Nations: Geneva Forum Seminar, September 16, 1998: 15–25. <u>http://www.geneva-forum.org/Reports/salw_vol1/19980916.pdf</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).
- Spear, Joanna. "Disarmament and Demobilization." In *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*, edited by Stephen John Stedman, Donald Rothchild, and Elizabeth M. Cousens, 141–182. Boulder and London: Lynnne Rienner Publishers, 2002.

—. "From Political Economies of War to Political Economies of Peace: The Contribution of DDR after Wars of Predation." *Contemporary Security Policy* 27, no. 1 (April 2006): 168–189.

Stedman, Stephen John. "Implementing Peace Agreements in Civil Wars: Lessons and Recommendations for Policymakers." *International Peace Academy*, May 2001: 1–25. <u>http://www.ipacademy.org/pdfs/Pdf_Report_Implementing.pdf</u> (accessed March 7, 2008).

- Stinchcombe, Arthur L. "Class Conflict and Diplomacy: Haitian Isolation in the Ninteenth-Century World System." Sociological Perspectives 37, no. 1 (Spring 1994): 1–23.
- Strategy Page. "Haiti: Vigilantes Rule." *Strategy Page*, August 4, 2007. <u>http://www.strategypage.com/qnd/haiti/articles/20070804.aspx</u> (accessed February 13, 2008).
- Sulivan, Mark. "Caribbean Region: Issues in U.S. Relations." *CRS Report for Congress,* April 26, 2006 (updated), RL32160: 1–28.
- The American Journal of International Law. "Replacement of U.S.-Led Force in Haiti with UN Peacekeeping Mission." *The American Journal of International Law* 98, no. 3 (July 2004): 586–588.
- The Economist. "The Americas: Building a Reluctant Nation, Haiti." *The Economist* 382, no. 8515 (February 10, 2007): 5.
- The Henry L. Stimson Center. "MINUSTAH: Peace Operations Fact Sheet Series." *The Henry L. Stimson Center*, August 2007. <u>http://www.stimson.org/fopo/pdf/MINUSTAH_Fact_Sheet_July_07.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
- The White House. "The National Security Strategy of the United States of America." (September 2002): 1–31. <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/nsc/nss/2002/nss.pdf NSP 2002</u> (accessed October 31, 2007).
- United Nations. "Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration." United Nations A/60/705 (March 2, 2006): 1–20. <u>http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N06/259/21/PDF/N0625921.pdf?Ope</u> <u>nElement</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).
 - —. Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration of Ex-Combatants in a PeaceKeeping Environment: Principles and Guidelines. New York: United Nations 2000. <u>http://www.un.org/Depts/dpko/lessons/DD&R.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

 —. "Report of the Secretary-General on the United Nations Stabilization Mission in Haiti." United Nations S/2007/503, (August 22, 2007): 1–21.
 <u>http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N07/463/77/PDF/N0746377.pdf?Ope</u> <u>nElement</u> (accessed October 19, 2007). —. "The Role of the United Nations Peacekeeping in Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration." United Nations S/2000/101: 1–23. <u>http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N00/291/43/PDF/N0029143.pdf?OpenEl</u> <u>ement</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

——. "The UN Approach to DDR." United Nations (August 1, 2006) <u>http://www.unddr.org/iddrs/02/download/IDDRS_210.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

United Nations Development Programme. "Albania: Weapons in Exchange for Development." *United Nations Development Programme* (2001): 1–6. <u>http://www.al.undp.org/projects/completed/wfd_update.htm</u> (accessed February 4, 2008).

—. "Arms for Development, UNDP Sierra Leone: End of Year 2007 Progress Report." February 2008: 1–8. <u>http://www.sl.undp.org/2_focus/afd_end_yr_rpt07.pdf</u> (accessed March 8, 2008).

Wikipedia.."List of Countries by Homicide Rates."Wikipedia (2008). <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_countries_by_homicide_rate</u> (accessed Febrauary 4, 2008).

 Weinstein, Jeremy, and Macartan Humphreys. "Disentangling the Determinants of Successful Demobilization and Reintegration." *Center for Global Development* 69 (September 2005): 1–30.
 <u>http://www.cgdev.org/content/publications/detail/4155</u> (accessed November 13, 2007).

Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs. "State Fragility: Improving U.S. Capacity to Respond." *Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs*. Princeton: Princeton University, January 2005.
 <u>http://www.wws.princeton.edu/research/PWReports/F04/wws591d.pdf</u> (accessed October 19, 2007).

- World Bank. "Haiti Country Brief." World Bank Country Briefs 2004. <u>http://lnweb18.worldbank.org/External/lac/lac.nsf/0/ddfd236e1adc10a885256e2f006d</u> <u>15e2?OpenDocument</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).
- —. "Haiti Country Brief." World Bank Country Briefs 2007. <u>http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/COUNTRIES/LACEXT/HAITIEX</u> <u>TN/0,,menuPK:338188~pagePK:141132~piPK:141107~theSitePK:338165,00.html</u> (accessed January 25, 2008).

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

INITIAL DISTRIBUTION LIST

- 1. Defense Technical Information Center Ft. Belvoir, Virginia
- 2. Dudley Knox Library Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, California
- Jeanne Giraldo Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, California
- 4. Jessica Piombo Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, California